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Report  

Dear Fellow Shareholders,  

 

The Board of Directors of S.A. San Miguel A.G.I.C.I. y F. (hereinafter referred to as either “San Miguel” or 

the “Company”), in compliance with the legal provisions and by-laws in force, is pleased to present the 

financial statements of the Company. Below we will explain in detail the context in which the Company has 

conducted business and our future prospects.  

  

Financial year No. 64, ended December 31, 2018, was closed with a consolidated ordinary loss before tax of 

ARS 1,404,265,000, the net loss for the financial year ended December 31, 2018 being ARS 1,102,792,000, 

which we submit to Shareholders for consideration together with the documents required by article 234 (1) of 

General Law of Business Associations No. 19550, which includes this Report (containing the Report on 

Compliance with the Corporate Governance Code as an schedule), the General Balance Sheet, the Income 

Statement, the Statement of Changes in Shareholders' Equity, the Cash Flow Statement, Notes and 

Supplementary Schedules, Consolidated Financial Statements and their respective Notes and Schedules, 

supplementary information required by article 62 b) 6. of the Listing Regulations of Bolsas y Mercados S.A., 

Information Review, Statutory Audit Committee Report, Auditors' Report and Annual Report of the Audit 

Committee.  

Progress on San Miguel's Development Strategy  

  

In more than 60 years in the business, we have reached a very relevant position in global lemon supply, 

which accounts for 9 percent of fresh lemon market share in the counter season and 15 percent in world 

lemon processing. Leveraging our leadership in lemons, we extend the amount of products we offer to our 

customers. We open doors to keep growing, adding more products and further value to our current sales 

channels. In the Fresh Fruit business, we have grown in sweet citrus to exceed 50 percent of our exported 

volume, while in the Processed Food business, we have decided to extend our product varieties based on 

demand and the needs of our customers. 

 

Based on this understanding of the market and its trends, we organize production according to market needs. 

We focus on the fruit market chain, oriented to provide solutions to our customers. Supported by the 

innovation and expertise that define us, in 2018 we generated new developments and products, in addition to 

the opening of new markets relevant to our exports from Argentina. 

 

In order to progress in this challenging context, we work using an integrated business model that begins in 

the shelves and translates into genetics, including production —in nurseries and in our own and third-party 

farms—, packing plants, processing plants and the logistic chain. Thus, we deliver fresh fruit to the major 

supermarkets in the Northern Hemisphere and processed food to consumer goods companies around the 

world that use these by-products as key supplies in their production chain.  

 

Our Fresh Fruit and Processed Food businesses work on a complementary basis, each representing 

approximately 50 percent of annual turnover. This allows a good risk balance to mitigate volatility, ensure 

the foreseeability of flows and maximize the use of fruit virtually with no shortages, as well as to optimize 

our returns. 
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The distribution and logistics platform we have developed forms part of the value proposition that is our 

distinctive feature to customers. We plan orders from harvest to customer's door based on their individual 

demand, and ensure the traceability of the logistic chain throughout its route. This allows us delivering 

products from our four points of origin in all global markets, with the highest quality. 

 

Diversified production in multiple points of origin –Argentina, Uruguay, South Africa and Peru– allows us to 

offer product variety, boost our logistic chain and mitigate weather, phytosanitary, regulatory and political 

risks.  

 

Within our business platform, a portion of the fruit we sell and process comes from Strategic Partner 

Producers, with whom we have long-term relationships that include financing, provision of genetic material 

and technical advice. This producer network helps to increase our volumes, supply from other countries 

where we do not have operations, and access different markets and improve returns on investment. 

 

To meet our goals, it is essential to ensure that our business is managed professionally. We have clearly 

defined control processes, policies and systems. We have developed an integrated risk model intended to 

reduce the volatility that may impact the business and organized our operation under the SAP management 

model. 

 

We are aware of our impact in the community and of our role as healthy food producers. Thus, sustainability 

is the framework that guides all our operation and our decisions, and based on this we work to create 

economic, social and environmental value. It is a strategic pillar inherent to our business, which is also highly 

relevant for consumers in our markets. Our customers want their value chain to be sustainable, and thus San 

Miguel becomes a strategic partner on the road to sustainability. Since 2016, we have adhered to the 17 

Sustainable Development Goals proposed by the United Nations and we conduct concrete actions that define 

our strategy and our way of doing business in line with these goals. This is how we consolidate our 

contribution aligning our business with the global agenda. This way of working and conducting our business 

has earned us an outstanding recognition in 2018, since we have been considered within the BYMA 

Sustainability Index, which was produced with the support of the IDB and is composed of the 15 companies 

with the best Sustainability performance of those listed on Buenos Aires Stock Exchange. 

 

The end of fiscal year 2018 confirms the strong operating and business income that we have anticipated in 

previous quarters. Compared to the previous year, the volume of fruit operated by the company rose 26 

percent, supported by a 50 percent increase in our own production. Fresh fruit exported volumes rose 19 

percent, and crushing volume in Argentina increased 40 percent. Sales (in pesos, adjusted for inflation) in 

2018 showed a 66 percent increase versus 2017, gross income margin rose to 36 percent and operating profit 

was 18 percent. Financial debt-to-EBITDA ratio decreased to 2.58x. 

 

Additionally, in 2018 the Company achieved some significant milestones. The most relevant events include: 

• Compensation agreement with A.P. Moller-Maersk Group (Maersk), related to the damages suffered 

in financial year 2017. Such agreement, subject to a confidentiality agreement between the parties, 

establishes current and future compensations subject to the fulfillment of certain commercial 

obligations by the parties. 

• Creation of a new company in South Africa under a shared ownership scheme between San Miguel 

and its employees that qualify under the regulations of the Black Economic Empowerment (BEE) 

program As part of its Sustainability policies, the Company has set up an employee trust (with 

members of the previously disfavored population) where it has partnered for the purchase and 

exploitation of production assets in the Eastern Cape, all under the Black Economic Empowerment 

(BEE) program, which will enable those employees to become production land owners and also to 

get the knowledge and tools required for successful land management. 

• Acquisition of an equity interest in Andean Sun Produce LLC, a company engaged in 

commercialization and registered in the United States, the major market for Peruvian mandarins and 

table grapes. Andean Sun Produce belongs to Peruvian group La Calera, specially engaged in the 

commercialization of fresh fruit in the United States and Canada. La Calera Agrícola is a leading 

company in citrus production and exports in Peru, with more than 3,000 hectares planted in the cost 
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of Peru. It produces mainly mandarins, grapes and avocados. Through this partnership, Andean Sun 

Produce will sell lemons, table grapes, avocados, oranges and mandarins from our 4 points of origin: 

Peru, Argentina, Uruguay and South Africa. This implies, among other things, that Andean Sun 

Produce will sell 80 percent of total exports of Peruvian late mandarins to the United States and 

Canada. 

• Business alliance with JD.com. The Company has reached a commercial agreement in China with 

Jingdong Shengxian, also known as JD.com, to start selling its products through the firm's e-

commerce platform. This agreement will enable the company to take an important step forward in 

Asia, where it intends to triple its sales volume in the coming years. 

• The Company has structured a long-term syndicated loan for 100 million dollars, granted jointly by 

IFC, IDB Invest and Rabobank. This loan falls under the Company's financial strategy to replace 

structural debt principal payments of 2018/19, finance structured working capital and continue with 

its capital investment plan supporting the growth strategy. 

  

As regards the macroeconomic context, in Argentina the peso's devaluation trend has deepened, which favors 

the competitiveness of our local operation, though it is worth pointing out that the Argentine Government has 

decided in the third quarter of the year to modify the export tax rebate rates as well as to levy a new tax on 

the whole export sector. These new regulations, both having a negative impact on our income, partially 

reduced the favorable effect of the competitiveness recovery from the Argentine peso devaluation.   

 

The Fresh Fruit Business in 2018 

 

Continuing with San Miguel's global sourcing strategy as a multi-origin supplier, we look at the market to 

complement the strengths and weaknesses of the different points of origin and thus seek to supply the fruit 

demanded by our customers.  

 

In 2018, the Company sold for the first time in its history Peruvian avocados and exported for the first time 

company-produced mandarins also from Peru. Both crops exceeded our production estimates, mainly in the 

youngest plantations, although we experienced some setbacks at the time of exporting, which reduced the 

result in both varieties. For avocado, having destined most of exports for the European Union market was 

finally less profitable, since that market was oversupplied, resulting in a negative impact on prices (an 

oversupply that did not occur in the Chinese and US markets, for example). Mandarins produced in our 

southern Peru operation were affected by a quality problem in late varieties, as a result of unusual humidity 

conditions that altered fruit, reducing the exportable yield, and thus the price achieved. These lower prices in 

Peruvian avocados and mandarins impacted the expected gross margins in said operation.  

 

The main destinations for fresh lemon have shown prices in line with our estimates, in addition to the 

historical shipment sent to the US market after 17 years. Despite some rains that complicated the harvesting 

process and therefore the availability of fruit as of the date of this communication, lemon crop season has 

finished on a high note supported by volume increase, prices above those of 2017 and increased 

competitiveness from the devaluation of the Argentine peso.  

 

As regards the fruit commercialized from South Africa, harvesting volumes have been below our estimates 

partially due to the strike of harvesters that interrupted operations in the Eastern Cape for some weeks, and 

which significantly affected the orange season, as well as some weather issues (mainly strong winds) that 

negatively impacted the mandarin packing yield. Although demand and prices for South African fruit 

remained in line with expectations, the above-mentioned issues affected the exported volumes, resulting in 

income being lower than expected. 

 

In Uruguay, mandarin and lemon production was as expected and orange production was slightly lower. 

However, hail storms in some of our farms in the North of the country and unusually extended rains impacted 

the quality and thus the exportable yield, mainly of mandarins, which had an adverse impact on the income of 

the operation. 
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Although during the last quarter of the year fresh fruit production and sale is limited to table grape season in 

Peru, it is worth mentioning that during the period we have recorded sales for approximately 47 percent of 

the volume dispatched in the previous quarters. This mismatch is caused by the adoption of IFRS 15 that 

provides for the recognition of sales at the time of their final settlement. 

As regards table grapes, although the volumes produced are currently below our expectations, it is worth 

mentioning that both the quality of the fruit that has allow us to export a proportion higher than in the last 

crop season and the sales channels we have developed in North America and China have partially offset the 

effect of the lower volume in sales.  

The Processed Food Business in 2018 

 

The Company's industrial operation has developed according to the estimates, backed by a higher availability 

of fruit, mainly in Tucumán, which has positively contributed to the utilization of the processing plant, and its 

resulting positive impact on business margins. The volume of fruit crushed in Tucumán in 2018 was 270 

thousand tons, 40% above the volume of the previous year. Comparatively, there is a significant increase in 

sales against the previous year, mainly due to a much higher cumulative crushed volume in Argentina, which 

resulted in a higher volume of product available, which, at the same time, was backed by higher selling prices 

denominated in dollars, also favored by the year-on-year devaluation of the Argentine peso. 

 

The volumes processed in the industrial joint-ventures of Uruguay and South Africa continue increasing year 

after year, with San Miguel marketing all the processed products produced in these operations. 

 

Outlook for 2019 

 For the next crop year, we expect our own production levels to be below those of 2018 in Argentina, and we 

are cautious regarding fruit quality due to the persistent rains in Tucumán over the past months. Although a 

decrease in quality may mean a lower volume of lemon exported, since the conditions have been the same for 

the whole sector, the contraction in the supply of fresh fruit might have a favorable effect on selling prices. 

Additionally, we anticipate a higher volume of late lemons in Spain, which could reduce by some weeks our 

commercialization window in 2019. It is worth pointing out, however, that the opening-up of the US market 

to Argentine lemon provides an alternative channel for the commercialization of early lemon, which was 

previously exported only to Europe. On the other hand, a reduced availability of export fruit implies a higher 

volume of fruit for crushing, with the resulting impact on the purchase prices of raw material. The 

combination of a higher volume of fruit available for crushing and the fall in the purchase prices of raw 

material should support the processed food business margins. 

In South Africa, both the volume of fruit expected and the quality are in line with our expectations, both for 

lemons and for oranges and mandarins. We anticipate a year similar to 2018 in terms of volumes and selling 

conditions for fruit, with the expectation placed on the commercial agreement with JD.com, which we will 

supply mainly from Peru and South Africa. 

The crop season beginning in Peru poses some challenges in terms of the mandarin volume produced. After a 

year of very high productivity in our farms in the South, we expect a decrease in the volume produced in this 

region, partially offset by the new plantations that continue growing to productive maturity in our operation 

in the North of the country. Regarding avocado, we expect volumes slightly above those of 2018, supported 

by improved productivity in our plantations in the South of Peru and the continuous growth of our 

plantations in the North. As regards prices, we expect better conditions for the sale of avocado than in 2018. 

Finally, we continue with the development of our industrial project in Uruguay, where we have started to 

make the investment required for the processing plant, and we will continue with the development of 

plantations allocated to its supply. 
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Domestic Economy  

In 2018 the trade balance yielded a deficit balance of USD 3.82 billion. Goods exports reached USD 61.62 

billion (which implies a 5.1 percent increase versus the same period of the previous year).  This increase is 

due to a 5.7 percent rise in prices and a -0.5 percent decrease in export volumes. Imports have totaled USD 

65.44 billion (-2.2 percent below the same period of the previous year) with a 4.6 percent increase regarding 

prices and a -6.5 percent decrease in imported volume.  

The 5.7 percent variation in export prices, according to Large industries, is basically explained by the price 

increase of Manufactures of Agricultural Origin - MAO (7%), Commodities (6.4%), Fuels and Energy 

(19.5%) and Manufactures of Industrial Origin - (0.7%). The -0.5 percent decrease in exported amounts is 

explained by a decrease in Commodities (-11.2%) MAO (-5.1%), while Fuels and Energy (41.2%) and MIO 

(8.5%) increased. The most important performances of the sub-industries with higher weighting in the index 

were: For MIO: Land Transport Material (28.3%), Common Metals and the Manufactures thereof (24.9%) 

and Machinery and equipment, electric material (5.5%); for MAO: Waste and spoilage from food industry 

(1.5%) and Meat and meat preparations (39.0%); for Fuels and Energy: Crude Oil (160%) and Fuels (38.7%). 

For Commodities, the sub-industries with the greatest contribution to the decrease were: Oil seeds and 

oleaginous fruits; and unprocessed vegetables and legumes (-17.5%).   

Import price increased 4.6 percent in the period mainly due to the increase in the following economic uses: 

Intermediate Goods (10.2%) and Fuels and Lubricants (25.5%). As regards imported volumes there was a -

6,5 percent negative variation in the period, mainly due to the decrease of Intermediate Passenger Motor 

Vehicles (-17.1%) Capital Goods (-11.9%). According to their relative share, the joint variation in price and 

quantity was: Capital Goods (-17.9%); Intermediate Goods (14.6%); Fuels and Lubricants (14.1%); Parts and 

accessories for capital goods (-5.8%); Consumer goods (-5.2%) and Passenger motor vehicles (-16.2%).  

According to the National Institute of Statistics and Censuses (Instituto Nacional de Estadística y Censos, 

INDEC), changes in the Consumer Price Index (CPI) against the previous month for 12 months of 2018 were 

1.8% in January; 2.4% in February; 2.3% in March; 2.7% in April; 2.1% in May; 3.7% in June; 3.1% in July; 

3.9% in August 6.5%, December 2.6%. The December variation versus December 2017 was 47.6 percent. 

Consumer goods have a 50.5 percent cumulative increase in the twelve months, while services showed a 42.8 

percent increase.  

According to data of the Industrial Monthly Estimate (Estimador Mensual Industrial, EMI), cumulative 

industrial activity as of December shows a 2.6 percent decrease against the same period of 2017. This 

decrease is mainly explained by a reduction in the level of activity related to Textile Industry sector (-32.2%); 

Rubber and plastic products (-17.4%); Metal-mechanical industry, excluding automotive industry, (-26.2%); 

Chemical substances and products (-5.5%); Processed Oil (-6.7%) and Food industry (-4%). 

Revenue collection in the first half of the year was 3.38 trillion Argentine pesos, with a 31 percent nominal 

year-on-year growth, as reported by the Federal Administration of Public Revenue (Administración Federal 

de Ingresos Públicos, AFIP). 

The US Dollar to Argentine Peso exchange rate was $18.76 at the beginning of 2018, ending December at 

$37.7. In the 12 months the Argentine peso depreciated 100.1 percent against the US dollar.  

By the end of September, the Central Bank reserves reached USD 65.80 billion, which represents a 19.53 

percent decrease against the USD 55.05 billion at the end of December 2017. 

 

International Context  

  

The global expansion has weakened. Global growth for 2018 is estimated at 3.7 percent, despite weaker 

performance in some economies, notably Europe and Asia. The global economy is projected to grow at 3.5 

percent in 2019 and 3.6 percent in 2020. 

The downward global growth forecast for 2019 and 2020 is partly due to the negative effects of tariff 

increases enacted in the United States and China earlier that year and in part reflects carry over from softer 

momentum in the second half of 2018 —including in Germany following the introduction of new automobile 

fuel emission standards and in Italy where concerns about sovereign and financial risks have weighed on 

domestic demand— but also weakening financial market sentiment as well as a contraction in Turkey now 

projected to be deeper than anticipated. 
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Global trade growth has slowed to well below 2017 averages and industrial production has decelerated, 

particularly of capital goods. Crude oil prices have been volatile since August, reflecting supply influences, 

including US policy on Iranian oil exports and, more recently, fears of softening global demand.  Prices of 

metals and agricultural commodities have softened slightly since August, in part due to subdued demand 

from China.  Consumer price inflation has generally remained contained in recent months in advanced 

economies. Among emerging market economies, inflationary pressures are easing with the drop in oil prices.  

With investors generally lowering exposure to riskier assets, emerging market economies experienced net 

capital outflows in 2018. Advanced economies are projected to grow 2.4 percent in 2018 and 2.1 percent in 

2019.  

Growth in advanced economies is projected to slow from an estimated 2.3 percent in 2018 to 2.0 percent in 

2019 and 1.7 percent in 2020. Growth in the euro area is set to moderate from 1.8 percent in 2018 to 1.6 

percent in 2019 and 1.7 percent in 2020.  The slowdown will take place particularly in Germany (due to soft 

private consumption, weak industrial production following the introduction of revised auto emission 

standards, and subdued foreign demand), Italy (due to weak domestic demand and higher borrowing costs as 

sovereign yields remain elevated) and France (due to the negative impact of street protests and industrial 

action). For the United Kingdom, growth will be about 1.5 percent, the negative effect of prolonged 

uncertainty about the Brexit outcome is offset by the positive impact from fiscal stimulus announced in the 

2019 budget.  In the United States, growth is expected to decline to 2.5 percent in 2019 and soften further to 

1.8 percent in 2020, a strong domestic demand growth will support rising imports and contribute to a 

widening of the US current account deficit. Japan’s economy is set to grow by 1.1 percent in 2019 due to the 

additional fiscal support to the economy this year, including measures to mitigate the effects of the planned 

consumption tax rate increase in October 2019. Growth is projected to moderate to 0.5 percent in 2020. 

For the emerging market and developing economy group, growth is expected to tick down to 4.5 percent in 

2019 (from 4.6 percent in 2018), before improving to 4.9 percent in 2020. Growth in emerging and 

developing Asia will dip from 6.5 percent in 2018 to 6.3 percent in 2019 and 6.4 percent in 2020.  Despite 

fiscal stimulus that offsets some of the impact of higher US tariffs, China’s economy will slow due to the 

combined influence of needed financial regulatory tightening and trade tensions with the United States. 

Growth in emerging and developing Europe in 2019 is now expected to weaken to 0.7 percent (from 3.8 

percent in 2018) despite generally buoyant growth in Central and Eastern Europe, before recovering to 2.4 

percent in 2020. A slower recovery in 2020 in Turkey, amid policy tightening and adjustment to more 

restrictive external financing conditions is observed. In Latin America, growth is projected to recover over 

the next two years, from 1.1 percent in 2018 to 2.0 percent in 2019 and 2.5 percent in 2020; this is due to a 

downgrade in Mexico’s growth prospects in 2019–20, reflecting lower private investment, and an even more 

severe contraction in Venezuela than previously anticipated. In Brazil, the gradual recovery from the 2015-16 

recession is expected to continue.  Argentina’s economy will contract in 2019 as tighter policies aimed at 

reducing imbalances slow domestic demand, before returning to growth in 2020. 

 

The IMF’s primary commodities price index rose 3.3 percent between February 2018 and August 2018 

driven by higher energy prices. Prices of metal and agricultural commodities also advanced, though not as 

quickly as energy prices:  

• Oil prices rose to more than USD 76 a barrel in June, the highest level since November 2014, reflecting the 

collapse in Venezuela’s production, unexpected outages in Canada and Libya, and expectations of lower 

Iranian exports following US sanctions. In August, prices dropped following a decision by the OPEC to 

increase oil production.  

• Strong demand for liquefied natural gas in China and India as well as higher oil prices kept the spot price 

for liquefied natural gas close to its highest level in three years.  

• The softening of metals prices between February and August 2018 was largely due to weaker demand from 

China. Metals markets also experienced high volatility, reflecting, in part, implemented tariff actions, US 

sanctions on aluminum giant Rusal, and higher trade policy uncertainty. 
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• The decline in the IMF’s agricultural price index between the reference periods reflects, to a large extent, 

trade tensions and concerns about global growth. Moreover, weather-related supply shortfalls of cocoa, 

cotton, and wheat are smaller than previously anticipated. Among commodities affected by trade tensions, 

soybean prices fell in June as China announced retaliatory import tariffs on US soybeans. 

Higher energy prices have lifted headline year-over-year inflation rates in advanced and emerging market 

and developing economies over the past six months. Core inflation (that is, excluding food and energy) 

remains below central banks’ targets in most advanced economies. Among emerging market and developing 

economies, excluding Venezuela’s hyperinflation, core inflation remains below the average of recent years 

but has inched up in recent months. 

Financial Activities  

  

The Company has strong business relationships with local and foreign banks, financial institutions and 

multilateral agencies in all its countries of operation. Such relationships are key to ensure an appropriate 

liquidity coverage ratio both for the needs of investment in fixed assets and to finance the working capital 

required for conducting business. Additionally, San Miguel also has a Corporate Notes Scheme approved that 

enables it to meet its financing needs.  

In financial year 2018, the Company undertook a process to improve its financial structure, including the 

grant of a structured loan with IFC, IDB and IDB Invest for USD 100 million.  

Collection management, tax liability and the performance of the obligations with suppliers and banks 

continue being a priority in the financial management of the company. 

 

Proposed Allocation of Retained Earnings 

   

The Board reports that according to the balance sheet for the year ended December 31, 2018, the net 

comprehensive loss for the period according to the income statement is $ -1,102,792,000 (one billion, one 

hundred two million, seven hundred ninety-two thousand Argentine pesos), which accumulated to the 

retained earnings existing at the beginning of the adjusted year, determine a negative balance of retained 

earnings at year-end of $ -992,324,000 (nine hundred ninety-two million, three hundred twenty-four thousand 

Argentine pesos). 

The Board proposes the Shareholders’ Meeting to partially reverse the Company's Optional Reserve for up to 

$ 1,272,324,000 (one billion, two hundred seventy-two million, three hundred twenty-four thousand 

Argentine pesos) to be used to firstly to absorb the total amount of the negative retained earnings for the 

amount of $ 992,324,000 (nine hundred ninety-two million, three hundred twenty-four thousand Argentine 

pesos) and secondly to pay cash dividends for $ 280,000,00 (two hundred eighty million Argentine pesos). 

 

Company Management and Administration  

According to the By-laws, the Board of Directors is responsible for the Management and Administration of 

the Company. The Board is comprised by a minimum of three and a maximum of nine Regular Directors. As 

of December 31, 2018, the Board was formed by nine Regular Directors and two Alternate Directors. 

Additionally, as provided in the Company's By-laws, there is also an Executive Committee, consisting of 

four Board members. Since the business has become more complex lately, boosted by the internationalization 

of operations in Uruguay, South Africa and Peru, this Executive Committee supports Management in the 

operating management and in the management of international operations of the Company and in following-

up and implementing the strategic plans. As of the same date, the Company's management was conducted by 

the General Manager of the Company, who leads a team of ten managers having specific responsibility on 

different areas. The Company's By-laws provide for a Statutory Audit Committee comprised by three 

permanent members having the roles assigned by the General Law of Business Associations. Operating 

decisions are taken by the General Management and the above-mentioned team of managers. Strategic 

decisions or those inherent to the administration body of the Company are submitted to the Board for 

approval. Additionally, for management, officers regularly monitor the internal control system in force taking 
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into account the implications that the changes in the processes or systems may have on management. San 

Miguel has developed systems and procedures that respect the internal control basic criteria. The Company 

has a management control department that keeps track of the business and supervises the budget, which 

makes it possible to prevent and detect diversions. There is also a specific accounting control and 

administrative area that checks compliance with control and procedure rules, executing a review program that 

comprises all the cycles of the company, which are reviewed throughout every financial year. This 

department is intended to contribute to minimize the potential impact that may result from operational risks, 

and additionally, it assists the different departments of the company in optimizing and implementing controls 

and procedures. The Company has no option plans for the compensation of Board members or managers. 

Remuneration of Board members and of the Statutory Audit Committee members has been fixed based on the 

responsibilities taken, the time devoted, professional competence and reputation and the value of the services 

in the market. The remuneration for managerial positions has a fixed component and a performance 

component and is aligned with market remunerations, and their participation in Special Committees and 

performance of technical and administrative roles.  

 

Audit Committee 

 

The Company has an Audit Committee formed by three regular members and an alternate member, appointed 

from among the most knowledgeable and experienced Board members in corporate, legal, accounting, tax 

and financial issues. The Audit Committee has a Chairperson appointed by the members of the Committee, 

and Internal Regulations that define its structure and functioning, the powers and duties of such body, the 

planning of the main tasks to be performed and a training plan for Committee members. 
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Closing Remarks  

  

We have carried out a strong activity this 2018, facing responsibilities and encouraging and difficult 

challenges. The Board confirms its optimism in being able to do business based on the knowledge and 

proven capacity of the Company to keep adding value to our products and offering excellent investment 

opportunities to our shareholders.  

Sincerely,  
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S.A. SAN MIGUEL A.G.I.C.I. y F. 

Comparative Financial Statements for the Financial Year ended  

December 31, 2018  
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Company Name: S.A. SAN MIGUEL A.G.I.C.I. y F. 

Legal Domicile: Province of Tucumán 

Core Activity: Agro-industry and Business 

DATE REGISTERED WITH THE PUBLIC REGISTRY OF COMMERCE: 

Of the Bylaws: February 16, 1955 

Date authorized by the  

Executive Power:  
September 15, 1964 

(Last) amended: April 18, 2018 

Unique Taxpayer Identification Number 30-51119023-8 

Articles of Incorporation expiration date: 12-30-2053 

See information on controlled entities in: Note 6 

 

CAPITAL STRUCTURE (In thousands of $) 

Class of shares 
Authorized 

Subscribed 

and paid-in 

Thousands of $ 

Registered Class A shares with 5 votes per share, Par Value $ 0.10 30,437 30,437 

Registered Class B shares with 1 vote per share, Par Value $ 0.10 40,714 40,714 

Total 71,151 71,151 
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The accompanying notes and schedules are an integral part of these financial statements. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  As of 12.31.18 As of 12.31.17 

  Thousands of $ 

ASSETS    

NON-CURRENT ASSETS    

Property, plant and equipment (Schedule A) 16,493,224        8,584,079  

Intangible assets  12,887              9,287  

Goodwill 2,030                 1,483  

Investments in associates (Note 4.e.) 100,399            47,809  

Inventories (Note 4.d.) 17,651 19,273  

Other receivables (Note 4.c.) 429,274 73,335  

Total Non-current Assets 17,055,465 8,735,266 

CURRENT ASSETS    

Inventories (Note 4.d.) 1,314,307           878,642  

Biological assets (Schedule F) 1,576,791           1,190,127  

Other receivables (Note 4.c.) 1,621,154           1,120,727  

Trade receivables (Note 4.b.) 437,903           634,263  

Other financial assets (Note 4.a and Schedule D) 39,387           122,405  

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 4.a.) 788,163           326,861  

Total Current Assets 5,777,705 4,273,025 

TOTAL ASSETS 22,833,170 13,008,291 

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY AND LIABILITIES    

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY(As per respective statement)    

Owners' contributions 2,832,000           2,832,000  

Income appropriated to reserves 8,780,880        2,331,381  

Retained earnings (992,324)          338,476 

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 10,620,556 5,501,857 

LIABILITIES    

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES    

Loans (Note 4.g.) 4,930,309        1,794,562  

Salaries and payroll taxes 8,500    -   

Taxes 9,793              18,510  

Deferred income tax liabilities (Note 10) 2,259,865           968,649  

Other liabilities (Note 4.h) 16,686              11,992  

Provisions (Schedule E) 46,240            38,158  

Total Non-current Liabilities 7,271,393 2,831,871 

CURRENT LIABILITIES    

Accounts payable (Note 4.f.) 2,304,262           1,387,410  

Advances from customers 430,931                 214,646  

Loans (Note 4.g.) 1,751,852           2,728,975  

Salaries and payroll taxes 336,131           157,390  

Taxes 73,435            51,170  

Other liabilities (Note 4.h) 44,610            134,972  

Total Current Liabilities 4,941,221 4,674,563 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 12,212,614 7,506,434 

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 22,833,170 13,008,291 



S.A. SAN MIGUEL A.G.I.C.I. Y F. 
Consolidated Comprehensive Income Statement  

for the years beginning  

January 1, 2018 and 2017 and ended December 31, 2018 and 2017   

  

See our report dated 

 March 7, 2019 

PRICE WATERHOUSE & CO. S.R.L. 
 

 

(Partner) 

    

 

S.A. SAN MIGUEL 
A.G.I.C.I. Y F. 

Carlos Brondo 
Certified Accountant (UNCuyo)  

Prof. Lic. No. 7336.1 
Association of Economics 

Graduates of Tucumán (CGCET) 

 See our report dated 
 March 7, 2019 

Gerardo Eduardo Francia 
By Statutory Audit Committee 

 
Gonzalo Tanoira 

Chairman 
 

 

  
4 

  12.31.18 12.31.17 

 
Profit / (Loss) 

Thousands of $ 

Continuing operations:   

Net sales (Note 4.i.) 9,958,435 5,999,842 

Changes in value of biological assets (Schedule F) 1,246,475 521,376 

Cost of goods and products sold (Schedule F) (7,567,491) (6,021,887) 

Gross income 3,637,419 499,331 

Distribution and selling expenses (Schedule H) (966,222) (711,901) 

Administrative expenses (Schedule H) (857,721) (641,712) 

Operating Profit/ (Loss) 1,813,476 (854,282) 

Financial income - Gain- (Loss):   

     - Financial revenues:   

       Interest 48,918 18,538 

       Exchange difference 1,374,906 366,555 

     - Financial costs:   

       Interest and commissions (633,795) (346,213) 

       Tax on Credits and Debits Law No. 25413 (37,258) (42,206) 

       Exchange difference (5,104,147) (814,912) 

Gain (loss) on exposure to change in the purchasing power of currency (Note 2.5) 807,990 196,079 

Other net income and expenses - Gain- (Note 4.k) 311,181 185,691 

Profit (loss) from investments in associates – Profit (Note 4.j) 14,464 2,367 

Gain from business acquisition (Note 13) - 645,043    

Net loss before income tax (1,404,265) (643,340) 

Income tax (Note 10) 301,473 693,183 

Net (loss)/income for the year (1,102,792) 49,843 

Other comprehensive income   

Revaluation of property plant and equipment 4,717,125                   - 

Exchange difference from valuation of investments in associates 1,504,366 206,848 

Total Comprehensive Income for the year 5,118,699 256,691 

Earnings per common share from continuing operations   

Basic and diluted:   

          Ordinary (1.550) 0.070 

 

The accompanying notes and schedules are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Owners' contributions Revaluations / Income appropriated to reserves 

Retained 

earnings 
12.31.18 Subscribed 

capital 

Additional 

paid-in capital 

Capital 

adjustment Total Legal reserve 
Optional 

reserve 

Reserve 

for investment 

in associates 

Special 

reserve 

Gen. Res. 609 CNV 

Technical 

revaluation 

reserve 

Total 

Thousands of $ 

Balances as of January 1, 2018  71,151  762,131 1,998,718  2,832,000  23,743  1,237,525    786,496   283,617  - 2,331,381    338,476 5,501,857  

Minutes of Shareholders' Meeting 

dated April 18, 2018 
  

 
     

 
   

Optional reserve - - - - - 216,608 - - - 216,608 (216,608) - 
Legal reserve  - - - - 11,400 - - - - 11,400 (11,400) - 

Comprehensive net income for the 

year according to income statement 
- - - - - - 1,504,366 -  4,717,125 6,221,491 (1,102,792) 5,118,699 

Balances as of December 31, 2018 71,151 762,131 1,998,718 2,832,000 35,143 1,454,133 2,290,862 283,617 4,717,125 8,780,880 (992,324) 10,620,556 

 

 

Owners' contributions Revaluations / Income appropriated to reserves 

Retained 

earnings 
12.31.17 Subscribed 

capital 

Additional 

paid-in 

capital 

Capital 

 adjustment 
Total Legal reserve 

Optional 

reserve 

Reserve 

for investment 

in associates 

Special 

reserve 

Gen. Res. 609 CNV 

Total 

Thousands of $ 

Balances as of January 1, 2017  64,423  82,226 1,820,871  1,967,520  23,743   1,682,616  579,648  283,617  2,569,624    (21,170) 4,515,974  

Minutes of Shareholders' Meeting 
dated April 27, 2017 

 
 

         

Cash dividends - - - - - - - - - (135,288) (135,288) 

Reversal of optional reserve  - - - - - (445,091) - - (445,091) 445,091 - 
Capital increase (Note 4 Separate 

Financial Statements) 
6,728 679,905 177,847 864,480 - - - - - - 864,480 

Comprehensive net income for the 
year according to income statement 

- - - - - - 206,848 - 206,848 49,843 256,691 

Balances as of December 31, 2017 71,151 762,131 1.998,718 2,832,000 23,743 1,237,525 786,496 283,617 2,331,381 338,476 5,501,857 

 

The accompanying notes and schedules are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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  12.31.18 12.31.17 

  Thousands of $ 

CHANGES IN FUNDS     

Cash at beginning of year (Note 4.l) 449,266 892,769 

Net increase (decrease) in funds  378,284 (443,503) 

Cash at year-end (Note 4.l) 827,550 449,266 

CAUSES OF CHANGES IN FUNDS   

OPERATING ACTIVITIES   

Net (loss) / income for the year (1,102,792) 49,843 

Net financial income 861,287 154,320 

Gain (loss) on exposure to change in the purchasing power of cash 63,014 65,824 

Income tax (301,473) (693,183) 

Adjustments to determine net cash flow from operating activities (Note 4.l) (950,053) (200,082) 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:   

Decrease / (Increase) in trade receivables 202,431 (25,032) 

Increase in other receivables (645,023) (339,879) 

(Increase) / Decrease in inventories (434,042) 233,188 

Decrease in current biological assets 859,811 291,811 

Increase in trade, tax, payroll and other payables 535,772 438,242 

Net cash flow used in operating activities (911,068) (24,948) 

INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES   

Increase of investment in associates - (1,143,458) 

Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment 600,274 169,207 

Payment to acquire of property, plant and equipment (1,185,913) (401,308) 

Net cash flow used in investment activities (585,639) (1,375,559) 

FINANCING ACTIVITIES   

Net increase in loans 12,011,734 2,572,330 

Issue of shares - 864,480 

Dividends paid - (13,288) 

Payment of interest (495,568) (41,822) 

Payment of loans (9,578,161) (2,236,872) 

Net cash flow from financing activities 1,938,005 1,022,828 

Gain (loss) on exposure to change in the purchasing power of the currency - 

cash loans 
(63,014) (65,824) 

Net increase / (decrease) in funds 378,284 (443,503) 

 

The accompanying notes and schedules are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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NOTE 1. GENERAL INFORMATION  
  

S.A. San Miguel and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) are mainly engaged in citrus fruit 

growing, processing and selling, as well as in selling products derived from their 

processing. 

 

The Group has approximately 9,448 hectares of citrus fields distributed in the following 

countries: Argentina (5,330 ha), Uruguay (1,330 ha), South Africa (1,080 ha) and Peru 

(1,708 ha) in company-owned and leased farms. Additionally, it has industrial plants 

located in Tucumán (Argentina) and in Chincha and Chepén (Peru).  

 

The Group sells its products mainly in European and Asian countries, and in the United 

States and Canada. 

 

The controlled entities that form part of S.A. San Miguel A.G.I.C.I. y F. are: San Miguel 

Uruguay S.A. and San Miguel International Investments S.A. Additionally, it has Joint-

Ventures in which it has an equity interest; Novacore S.A. in Uruguay, Venco Fruit 

Processors Ltd., Thudana Citrus in South Africa and Andean Sun Produce LLC in the 

United States. 

 

San Miguel Uruguay S.A. - San Miguel International Investments S.A. 

 

San Miguel Uruguay S.A. and San Miguel International Investment S.A. are privately-held 

companies incorporated in the Oriental Republic of Uruguay in which the Company has a 

100% equity and voting interest.  

 

At this year-end, these companies have the following investments in companies engaged in 

activities related to the citrus and agriculture business. 

 
San Miguel Uruguay S.A.  San Miguel International Investments S.A. 

Subsidiary Percentage of 

interest 

Country  Subsidiary Percentage of 

interest 

Country 

Samifruit Uruguay 

S.A. 
100% Uruguay  

San Miguel Fruits 

South Africa 

(Property) Limited 

100% 
South 

Africa 

Terminal Frutera S.A. 100% Uruguay  

Venco Fruit 

Processors 

(Property) Limited 

39% 
South 

Africa 

Zephyr S.A. 100% Uruguay  

New Africa Fruit 

(Pty) Ltd 
49% 

South 

Africa 

Andean Sun 

Produce LLC 
40% 

United 

States 

Agrinal S.A. 100% Uruguay  
Coop Fruit NL 100% Holland 

Farocoral S.A. 100% Uruguay  

Novacore S.A. 50% Uruguay  Thudana Citrus 

(Pty) Ltd 
49% 

South 

Africa 
Agrícola Hoja Redonda 

S.A. 
100% Peru  Thudana Fruit (Pty) 

Ltd. 
49% 

South 

Africa 
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NOTE 2. BASIS FOR PREPARATION AND ADOPTION OF INTERNATIONAL 

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (IFRS) 

 

2.1. Accounting Policies, Basis for Preparation  
 

The Argentine Securities and Exchange Commission (Comisión Nacional de Valores, 

CNV), under Title IV “Periodic Reporting Scheme”- Chapter III “Standards relating to 

financial statements reporting and valuation criteria” - Article1, of its standards, has 

established the application of Technical Resolution No. 26 (RT 26) of the Argentine 

Federation of Professional Councils in Economic Sciences (Federación Argentina de 

Consejos Profesionales de Ciencias Económicas, FACPCE) as amended, which adopts the 

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), issued by the International Accounting 

Standards Board (IASB), for selected entities included under the public offering regime of 

Law No. 26831, based either on its equity capital or its corporate notes, or that they have 

requested authorization to be included under such regime. 

Based on the above, the Company's management has prepared these financial statements 

pursuant to the accounting framework set forth by the CNV, which is based on IFRS 

application. 

Additionally, information required by the CNV as stated under article 1, Chapter III, Title 

IV of Gen. Res. No. 622/13 has been included. Such information is included in note to 

these consolidated financial statements. 

These consolidated financial statements are stated in thousands of pesos, with no cents, as 

are the notes. 

The preparation of these consolidated financial statements, pursuant to the above-

mentioned accounting framework, requires making estimates and assessments that affect 

the amounts of assets and liabilities recorded and contingent assets and liabilities disclosed 

as of the date these consolidated financial statements are issued, as well as income and 

expenses recorded. 

The Company makes estimates to calculate, for example, depreciations and amortizations, 

the recoverable amount of non-current assets, the charge for income tax, certain labor 

charges, provisions for contingencies, labor, civil and commercial lawsuits and bad debts. 

Actual future income/loss may differ from the estimates and assessments made as of the 

date of preparation of these financial statements.  

Change of Accounting Policy  

In addition to the change explained in this note relating to IFRS 15, over the last quarter of 

2018 the Company's Board has decided a change in the accounting policy related to the 

valuation of property, plant and equipment, from the historical cost model to the 

revaluation model allowed by IAS 16. The Board of the Company understands that this 

change reflects better reporting to the management and users of the financial statements. 
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NOTE 2. BASIS FOR PREPARATION AND ADOPTION OF INTERNATIONAL 

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (IFRS) 

 

2.1. Accounting Policies, Basis for Preparation (Cont.) 

 

See note 2.22 Accounting Estimates (fair value of property, plant and equipment). 

 

The Going Concern Principle 

 

As of the date of these consolidated financial statements, there are no uncertainties as to 

events or conditions that may raise doubts about the Company’s ability to continue 

operating as usual as a going concern. 

 

The amounts as of December 31, 2017 shown for comparative purposes in these financial 

statements arise from restating the financial statements amounts as of that date, adjusted as 

described in Note 2.5 of these consolidated financial statements. If appropriate, some 

reclassifications have been made on them for comparative purposes. 

 

The table below shows the subsidiaries consolidated: 

Companies Country 
Local 

currency 

Functional  

currency 

Percentage of 

interest 

12.31.2018 

S.A. San Miguel Uruguay Uruguay Uruguayan Pesos USD 100% 

San Miguel International Investments S.A. Uruguay Uruguayan Pesos USD 100% 

 

 

2.2 New Accounting Policies and Disclosures. 

 

(a) New standards, amendments and interpretations effective as from the financial 

year beginning January 1, 2018: 

 

IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”: it is a standard on the recognition of 

revenue agreed between the IASB and the FASB that allows improvements in the financial 

reports on revenues, making comparisons at international level easier. This was published 

in May 2014.  
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NOTE 2. BASIS FOR PREPARATION AND ADOPTION OF INTERNATIONAL 

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (IFRS) 

 

2.2 New Accounting Policies and Disclosures (Cont.) 

 

As of January 1, 2018, the Group has adopted IFRS 15, which has implied a change in its 

accounting policies. Pursuant to the transition provisions of IFRS 15, the Group has 

adopted this new standard using the modified retrospective approach. As a result, the 

information presented for year 2017 has been restated, making only some reclassifications 

among net sales and change in the fair value of biological assets in order to improve the 

comparability of amounts in the financial statements with no modifications in the final 

income or loss. 

 

Amendments to IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (issued in 2014): the complete version of 

this standard was issued in July 2014, which included Chapter 6 on hedge accounting. 

IFRS 9 provides more flexibility for the effectiveness requirements of hedging instruments 

by substituting the effectiveness assessment rules for these instruments. It requires that an 

economic relationship must exist between the hedging instrument and the hedged item and 

that the hedge ratio is the same used by the Management for risk management. The 

requirement for the existence of formal documentation of the hedge ratio at the beginning 

of such ratio has been kept, but it is different than that prepared under IAS 39. 

Additionally, this standard introduces an expected credit loss model that replaces the 

financial asset impairment model used in IAS 39. The application of this new standard has 

had no impact on the classification and measurement of these financial assets. 

 

As from January 1, 2018, the Group has been assessing in advance the expected credit 

losses related to its debt instruments. The impairment methodology applied depends on 

whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk or not. 

 

For accounts receivable, the Group applies the simplified approach included in IFRS 9, 

which requires expected losses to be recognized over the life time of the asset since the 

initial recognition of accounts receivable. 

 

As mentioned above, the group has applied the simplified approach, which measures the 

bad debt allowance in an amount equal to the expected credit losses over the lifetime of the 

asset at initial recognition and throughout the life of receivables and contract assets. For 

their measurement, assets have been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics 

and days past due. 

 

Amendments to IFRS 2 “Share-based payments”: this amendment clarifies how to account 

for certain types of share-based payment transactions. The application of this amendment 

had no significant impact on these consolidated financial statements. 
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NOTE 2. BASIS FOR PREPARATION AND ADOPTION OF INTERNATIONAL 

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (IFRS) 

 

2.2 New Accounting Policies and Disclosures (Cont.) 

 

Amendments to IAS 40 “Investment Property”: these amendments clarify that to transfer 

to, or from, investment properties there must be a change in use. This change must be 

supported by evidence. The application of this amendment had no significant impact on 

these consolidated financial statements. 

 

IFRIC 22 “Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration”: this standard 

deals with foreign currency transactions or parts of transactions where there is a 

consideration that is denominated or quoted in a foreign currency. The interpretation 

provides guidance for when a single payment/receipt is made, as well as for situations 

where multiple payments/receipts are made. The guidance aims to reduce diversity in 

practice. The application of this standard had no significant impact on these consolidated 

financial statements. 

  

  

(b) New standards, amendments and interpretations published not yet effective for 

this year, beginning on or after January 1, 2019 and that have not been adopted in 

advance: 

 

Amendments to IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”, with prepayment features with negative 

compensation: this amendment confirms that when a financial liability measured at 

amortized cost is modified without this resulting in derecognition, a gain or loss should be 

immediately recognized in income or loss for the year. This amendment was published in 

October 2017 and is effective for periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019. The 

Company estimates that the application of this amendment will have no significant impact 

on the consolidated financial statements. 

 

IFRS 16 “Leases”: it eliminates, for lessees, the distinction between “finance leases” 

recorded in the balance sheet and “operating leases” for which the recognition of the future 

lease payments is not required. Instead, it introduces a single model that is similar to the 

current finance lease. This standard applies to periods beginning on or after January 1, 

2019, and earlier adoption is allowed if IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with 

Customers” is also applied. The Company is evaluating the impact of this standard, and 

expects to apply such effects as from period 2019. 
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NOTE 2. BASIS FOR PREPARATION AND ADOPTION OF INTERNATIONAL 

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (IFRS) 

 

2.2 New Accounting Policies and Disclosures. (Cont.) 

 

IFRIC 23 “Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments”:  this standard clarifies how the 

recognition and measurement requirements of IAS 12 “Income Taxes” should be applied 

when there is uncertainty over income tax treatment. This standard was published in June 

2017 and will be effective for periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019. The Company 

estimates that the application of this amendment will have no significant impact on the 

consolidated financial statements. 

 

Amendments to IAS 19 “Employee Benefits”: this amendment requires an entity to use 

updated assumptions to determine the current operating and financial cost for the 

remainder of the period after a plan amendment, curtailment or settlement and to recognize 

the effect on the profit or loss for the period as part of the cost of past services, or as gain 

or loss on settlement. This amendment was published in February 2018 and will be 

effective for periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019. The Company estimates that 

the application of this amendment will have no significant impact on the consolidated 

financial statements. 

 

There are no other IFRS or IFRIC interpretations not effective yet and expected to have a 

significant impact for the Group. 

  

2.3. Seasonality of Operations 

 

The income from the products marketed by the Company show a seasonal performance 

depending on several factors such as weather conditions (higher demand in times of high 

or low temperatures) and the productive periods of certain supplies such as fruits. 

 

2.4 Functional Currency and Reporting Currency 

 

Amounts included in the financial statements of each of the Group's entities are expressed 

in their functional currency. Generally, for entities of the Group abroad, the US dollar has 

been defined as functional currency, as this is the currency of the primary economic 

environment where such entities operate.  
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NOTE 2. BASIS FOR PREPARATION AND ADOPTION OF INTERNATIONAL 

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (IFRS) 

 

2.4 Functional Currency and Reporting Currency (Cont.) 

 

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Argentine pesos, being the 

functional currency of the Argentine Company and the reporting currency of the Group. 

However, the Argentine company and its subsidiary San Miguel Fruits South Africa 

(Property) Limited will modify their functional currency as explained in note 14. 

 

The income (loss) and financial position of all the Group entities that have a functional 

currency different from the reporting currency of the Group are translated into the 

reporting currency as follows:  

 

(a) Assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the bid 

exchange rate at balance sheet date.  

(b) Income and expenses are translated at the average exchange rate for the 

financial year.   

(c) All resulting exchange differences are recognized in other comprehensive 

income. 
 

The closing exchange rates, used in the translation process are as follows: 

 

Companies Country 
Local 

currency 

Functional  

currency 

Bid exchange 

rate as of 

Average bid 

exchange rate 

as of 

12.31.2018 12.31.2018 

S.A. San Miguel Uruguay Uruguay Uruguayan Pesos USD 37.5 27.9780 

San Miguel International 

Investments S.A. 
Uruguay Uruguayan Pesos USD 37.5 27.9780 

 

2.5. Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies 

International Accounting Standard No. 29 “Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary 

Economies” (“IAS 29”) requires that the financial statements of an entity with a functional 

currency that is a currency of a high inflationary economy should be stated in terms of the 

measuring unit current at the balance sheet date reported, whether the financial statements 

are based on an historical cost or current cost approach. Thus, in general terms, non-

monetary items should compute the inflation that took place from the date of acquisition or 

from the date of revaluation, as appropriate. Such requirements also include the 

comparative information of the financial statements.  

 

In order to conclude whether an economy is considered as high inflationary under the 

terms of IAS 29, the standard describes a number of characteristics to be considered, 

including a cumulative inflation rate over three years that approaches, or exceeds, 100%.  
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2.5. Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies (Cont.) 

This is why, according to IAS 29, Argentine economy must be considered high 

inflationary as from July 1, 2018. 

 

At the same time, Law No. 27468 (Official Gazette 12/04/2018) has amended Art. 10 of 

Law No. 23928 as amended, setting forth that the repeal of legal or regulatory laws 

establishing or authorizing price indexation, monetary updating, cost variation or any other 

form of restating debts, taxes, prices or charges of goods, works or services, shall not cover 

financial statements, to which provisions of article 62 in fine of General Law of Business 

Associations No. 19550 (Arranged Text 1984) as amended shall continue to be applied. 

Additionally, said law set forth the repeal of Decree No. 1269/2002 dated July 16, 2002 as 

amended and delegated to the National Executive Power, through its controlling bodies, 

the task to establish the date as from which the mentioned provisions shall be effective as 

to the financial statements presented.  

 

Therefore, through General Resolution No. 777/2018 (Official Gazette 12/28/2018), to the 

Argentine Securities and Exchange Commission (Comisión Nacional de Valores, CNV) it 

has established that issuers subject to its supervision shall apply to annual, interim and 

special financial statements closing on or after December 31, 2018, the restatement 

approach of financial statements in constant currency as established by IAS 29. 

 

Pursuant to IAS 29, the financial statements of an entity reporting with a functional 

currency that is a currency of a high inflationary economy should be stated in terms of the 

measuring unit current as of the date of the financial statements. All balance sheet amounts 

not stated in terms of the measuring unit current as of the date of the financial statements 

must be restated applying the general price index. All items in the income statement must 

be stated in terms of the measuring unit updated as of the date of the financial statements, 

by applying the change in the general price index that has occurred from the date income 

and expenses were originally recognized in the financial statements. 

 

The adjustment for Inflation on opening balances was calculated considering the indexes 

established by the Argentine Federation of Professional Councils in Economic Sciences 

(Federación Argentina de Consejos Profesionales en Ciencias Económicas, FACPCE) 

based on the price indexes published by the National Institute of Statistics and Censuses 

(Instituto Nacional de Estadística y Censos, INDEC).  

 

The main procedures for the above-mentioned inflation adjustment are as follows: 
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2.5. Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies (Cont.) 

- Monetary assets and liabilities that are accounted for at the measuring unit at the 

balance sheet date are not restated because they are already stated in terms of the 

current monetary unit of the financial statements. 

- Non-monetary assets and liabilities are accounted for at cost at balance sheet 

date, and shareholders’ equity components are restated applying the relevant 

adjustment rates.   

- All items in the income statement are updated by applying the relevant 

conversion factors. 

- The effect of inflation in the net monetary position of the Company is included 

in the income statement, in Other financial income and expenses, net, under 

“Gain (loss) on exposure to change in the purchasing power of the currency”. 

- Comparative figures have been inflation-adjusted following the same procedure 

explained above. 

 

In the initial application of the inflation adjustment, Shareholder's Equity accounts were 

restated as follows: 

- Capital was restated from the date subscribed or from the date of the last 

inflation adjustment accounted for, whichever is later. The resulting amount was 

included in the “Capital adjustment” account. 

- The translation difference was restated in real terms. Other comprehensive 

income items were restated as from the date each item was recorded. 

- Other income reserves were not restated in the initial application. 

 

The application of this method yielded a gain as of January 1, 2017, which has been 

recorded in previous years’ income for $ 171,542, taking retained earnings from 

($ 183,197) to ($ 11,655) as of that date, which have been restated following the guidelines 

described in the above paragraphs amounting to ($ 21,475) stated in December 2018 

currency in order for balances reported in these two periods to be comparable. In this sense 

all the adjustment for inflation at the beginning of the application of the mentioned 

restatement is corrected in said adjustment. 

 

2.6. Segment Reporting  

 

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reports provided 

by the Group's chief operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is  
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2.6. Segment Reporting (Cont.) 

 

responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, 

has been identified as the Board that makes strategic decisions.  

 

2.7. Consolidation 

a) Subsidiaries 

Subsidiaries are those entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has 

control. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns 

from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its 

power over such entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is 

transferred to the Group and are no longer consolidated from the date on which that control 

ceases. 

The Group's business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The 

consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair value of the assets 

transferred, the liabilities incurred and the shares issued by the Group. The consideration 

transferred includes the fair value of any assets or liabilities arising from a contingent 

consideration agreement. Costs related to the acquisition are expensed in the year they are 

incurred. The identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities and contingent liabilities 

assumed in a business combination are initially valued at their fair value at the date of 

acquisition. For each business combination, the Group may choose to recognize any non-

controlling interest in the acquiree at fair value or at the proportionate share of the non-

controlling interest of the amounts recognized of the acquiree's identifiable net assets.  

Goodwill is initially measured as the excess of the total consideration transferred, the 

amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the fair value at the date of 

acquisition of any interest previously maintained in the acquiree; over the fair value of the 

identifiable net assets acquired. If the consideration transferred, the non-controlling interest 

recognized and the interest previously maintained is below the fair value of the net assets 

of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is directly recognized in income. 

Transactions, balances and income and expenses, originated from operations made 

between companies of the economic group are eliminated. Gains and losses not involving 

third parties contained in final balances of assets arising from such transactions are also 

eliminated.  

Financial statements used in consolidation were prepared as of the same closing date of the 

consolidated financial statements covering equal years, and were prepared using valuation 
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2.7. Consolidation (Cont.) 

a) Subsidiaries (Cont.) 

and exposure criteria consistent with those used by the Company. 

The table below shows the subsidiaries consolidated: 

Companies Country 
Local 

currency 

Functional  

currency 

Percentage of 

interest 

12.31.2018 

S.A. San Miguel Uruguay Uruguay Uruguayan Pesos USD 100% 

San Miguel International Investments S.A. Uruguay Uruguayan Pesos USD 100% 

 

b) Associates and Joint Ventures 

Affiliates or associates are those entities in which the Group has significant influence, but 

not control, usually holding 20-50 percent of the voting rights.   

Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method, and are initially 

recognized at cost. The Group's investment in affiliates includes goodwill identified on 

acquisition, net of any accumulated impairment loss, if appropriate. 

The Company's share of profit or loss after the date of acquisition of its associates is 

recognized in the income statement, and the share of other comprehensive income after the 

acquisition is recognized in other comprehensive income. Post-acquisition changes are 

adjusted against the carrying amount of the investment. 

Unrealized profits from transactions between the Group and its associates, if any, are 

eliminated based on the percentage of interest of the Company in the associates. If 

appropriate, unrealized losses are also eliminated, unless the transaction provides evidence 

of an impairment loss of the asset transferred. Dilution gains or losses in associates are 

recognized in the consolidated income statement. 

In those associates where the equity method calculation is negative, that is, the Group's 

share of losses of the associate is equal to or exceeds the interest in it, the Company chose 

as accounting policy to recognize such additional losses above its equity interest. Such 

values are included: 

(i) by netting the Group's credit balances, if any, with these associates in 

“Other receivables” or, 
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2.7. Consolidation (Cont.) 

b) Associates and Joint Ventures (Cont.) 

(ii) in “Trade payables and other payables”, together with other liabilities 

maintained with these associates, if any. 

Under the equity method, an investment in a joint venture is initially recognized at cost, 

and adjusted thereafter in order to recognize the Group's share of the post-acquisition 

profits or losses and the changes in other comprehensive income. When the Group's share 

of the losses of the joint ventures equals or exceeds its investment in the joint venture 

(including any long-term interest that, essentially, forms part of the net investment of the 

Group in the joint venture), the Group should not recognize further losses, unless it has 

incurred liabilities or made payments on behalf of the joint venture. 

Unrealized profits from transactions between the Group and its joint ventures are 

eliminated by the investment of the Group in the joint venture. Unrealized losses are also 

eliminated, unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of an asset 

transferred. 

Accounting policies of associates and joint ventures have been changed, where necessary, 

to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group. 

2.8. Other Receivables and Liabilities  

Other receivables and liabilities have been valued at nominal value plus the financial 

income accrued at year-end, if applicable. The values obtained in this way do not 

significantly differ from those that would have been obtained if the current accounting 

standards had been applied, which establish that they must be valued based on the best 

possible estimate of the amount receivable and payable, respectively, discounted using a 

rate that reflects the time value of money and the specific risks of the estimated transaction 

at the time of its inclusion into assets and liabilities, respectively.  

2.9. Intangible Assets  

Intangible assets have been valued at acquisition cost net of the relevant accumulated 

amortizations.  

2.9.1 Software 

Costs associated to maintaining programs are expensed as incurred. Development costs 

that are directly attributable to the design and testing of unique and identifiable software 
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2.9. Intangible Assets (Cont.) 

2.9.1 Software (Cont.) 

products controlled by the Group are recognized as intangible assets when the following 

criteria are met: 

• It is technically feasible to complete the software so that it will be available for 

use.  

• The Management intends to complete and use the software. 

• There is an ability to use or sell the software. 

• It can be demonstrated how the software will generate probable future economic 

benefits.  

• Adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development 

and to use or sell the software are available.  

• The expenditure attributable to software during its development can be reliably 

measured. 

 

These assets are amortized using the straight-line method over a 3-5 year period. 

Trademarks, registrations and patents, and individually acquired contracts with customers 

are initially valued at cost. Product development costs are recognized as assets only if they 

meet the criteria defined in IAS 38 “Intangible Assets”, related to the proposed use and the 

values recognized are recoverable through future economic benefits. Research costs are 

expensed in the year incurred. 

As of the closing date of these financial statements, intangible assets with definite useful 

life are valued at cost, net of accumulated amortizations and of impairment losses. These 

assets are tested for impairment if there is evidence that their carrying amount could not be 

recoverable. Intangible assets related to contracts with customers acquired by the Group 

have been classified as assets with definite useful life and are amortized using the straight-

line method over a maximum 5-year period. 

2.10. Property, Plant and Equipment  

Property, plant and equipment is initially recorded at cost. Historical cost comprises the 

purchase price and any cost directly attributable to the acquisition or construction. 

 

Following initial recognition, the following valuation models are applied: 
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2.10. Property, Plant and Equipment (Cont.) 

 

- Revaluation model for land, buildings and facilities, machinery, plantations, 

vehicles and furniture and fixtures. These assets are recorded at their 

appraised value, considering their fair value at revaluation date less the later 

depreciation and impairment losses. 
 

- Cost model for all the remaining categories. The asset is recorded at cost 

less accumulated depreciation and impairment. 

 

Revaluations are made by an independent appraiser based on the depreciated replacement 

cost method and discounted cash flow for plantations, so that the carrying amount of an 

asset is not materially different from its fair value as of the closing date of the financial 

statements. Increases in value are recognized under Other comprehensive income net of 

income tax and accumulate in Shareholders' Equity under "Revaluation reserve". This 

reserve is reversed as revalued assets are consumed or sold, and cannot be distributed until 

reversal is made. Revaluations are recorded at the end of each of the years reported. 

 

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or recognized as a separate 

asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that the future economic benefits associated 

with the asset will flow to the Company and the cost of the asset can be measured reliably.  

They are depreciated over the estimated period until the next major maintenance. Any 

residual value resulting from previous maintenance will be expensed. 

 

The depreciation of these assets is calculated using the straight-line method, applying 

annual rates sufficient to extinguish their values by the end of their useful lives. When the 

individual components of an element of property, plant and equipment have different 

useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items, which are separately amortized. 

 

These costs may include the cost of replacing parts that are eligible for compounding when 

the costs of replacing the parts are incurred. The carrying amount of those parts that are 

replaced is derecognized. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the 

comprehensive income statement in the period incurred. 
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2.10. Property, Plant and Equipment (Cont.) 

The carrying amount of assets included under property, plant and equipment is 

immediately reduced to their recoverable amount when the carrying amount exceeds the 

estimated recoverable amount. 

The last valuation was made as of December 31, 2018.  

Below there is a comparison of the carrying amounts that would have been recognized if 

the assets had been carried under the cost model or under the revaluation model: 

Item 
Amount  

revalued 
Cost 

Rural lands 3,841,496 2.590,867 

Plantations 7,601,689 4,730,525 

Buildings 1,217,286 488,951 

Facilities 1,079,180 833,886 

Furniture, fixtures and computer equipment 35,019 35,019 

Bins 89,989 16,268 

Agricultural machinery and tools 35,001 31,071 

Vehicles 1,844,876 679,882 

Machinery and equipment 37,156 22,452 

Work in progress 667,286 667,286 

Prepayment to suppliers 44,250 44,250 

 

Gains and losses from the sale of items in property, plant and equipment are estimated 

comparing the income earned with the carrying amount of the appropriate asset and are 

included under “Other net operating income / (expenses)” in the comprehensive Income 

Statement. 

2.11. Biological Assets 

Essentially, they include citrus crops that are biological assets in a stage of development 

(fruits), which after being harvested are sold in this status or consumed in the manufacture 

of other products. 

Bearer plants are accounted for and exposed as elements of “Property, Plant and 

Equipment”. Fruit crops that are biologically developed in those fruit plants are accounted 

for as “Biological Assets” until they are picked. Fruit harvested, biological produce 

resulting from such crops, is transferred to “Inventories” at fair value once harvested. 
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2.11. Biological Assets (Cont.) 

In the initial stage of biological development, that is, until fruit crops reach a phenological 

status that allows reasonably estimating their yield, they are valued at historical cost, which 

includes mainly the costs of growing, labor and related supplies. Following this stage, they 

are valued at fair value less harvest costs. 

Such fair value is determined separately from bearer plants where they are developed and 

the land in which they are implanted, which are measured according to the criteria adopted 

for “Property, Plant and Equipment”. 

Given that, at year-end, some fruit crops are under an initial stage of their biological 

development, they are accounted for at historical cost. The rest of the fruits are accounted 

for at fair value. Based on the fact that there is no active market for this type of biological 

assets (non-harvested fruit crops) in their location and condition as of the date of these 

financial statements, such fair value is estimated based on the present value of the expected 

net cash flows (mainly, fair value of biological products to be harvested), discounted using 

a rate appropriate to the circumstances. In making such estimation, factors such as the 

phenological status of the crops, the expected yield per hectare, the price of fruit and the 

estimated costs of labor and supplies to the date of harvest are taken into account. 

Additionally, as these biological assets are harvested within the next twelve months and are 

later consumed in other industrial processes, they are classified as current assets. 

The difference between the fair value of biological produce (fruits) harvested in the period 

and the respective costs of production, as well as the difference between the fair value of 

biological assets not harvested at year-end and their corresponding historical costs are 

charged to the income statement under “Changes in the fair value of current biological 

assets”. 
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2.12. Inventories   

Inventories are recorded at the lower of cost restated following the guidelines of note 2.5 or 

net realizable value. The cost of finished products and of goods-in-process comprises the 

costs of raw materials, direct labor and other direct costs and manufacturing overheads, 

based on normal operating capacity, and excludes the financing costs.  

The net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business 

minus the direct selling expenses.  

The provision for impairment and obsolescence of inventories is determined for those 

goods that at year-end have a net realizable value below their historical cost, and to reduce 

certain inventories of slow turnover or that are obsolete at their probable 

realizable/utilization value, at the respective dates. 

The Company estimates that the net carrying value of inventories does not exceed their 

recoverable value at year-end. 

2.13. Trade Receivables and Accounts Payable  

Trade receivables and accounts payable have been valued at the price of cash operations 

current at the time of the transaction. Such values are not significantly different from those 

that would have been obtained if the IFRS that establish that they must be initially 

recognized at fair value and subsequently at amortized cost according to the effective 

interest rate method, less the provision for impairment, had been applied.  

2.14. Loans  

Loans have been valued according to the sum of money received net of the costs incurred 

for obtaining them (which include banking commissions, legal fees and taxes) plus the 

financial income accrued based on the rate agreed. Such values are not significantly 

different from those that would have been obtained if the IFRS, which establish that they 

are initially recognized at fair value, net of the costs directly attributable to obtaining the 

loans and subsequently, valued at amortized costs using the effective interest rate method, 

had been applied.  

2.15. Provisions  

Provisions are recognized on the balance sheet when:  

1. The Group has a present (legal or constructive) obligation as a result of a past event,  
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2.15. Provisions (Cont.) 

2. it is possible that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and  

3. the amount of the obligation can be reliably estimated.  

Provisions are measured at the present value of expenditures expected to be required to 

settle the obligation taking into account the best information available at the date the 

financial statements are prepared and are re-estimated at each year end. The discount rate 

used to determine the present value reflects current market assessments, at balance sheet 

date, of the time value of money, as well as the risk specific to the particular obligation.  

Provisions for contingencies: They have been set up to cover eventual contingent civil, 

labor situations, lawsuits related to diseases, work accidents and damages considered as 

likely. The amount and likelihood that they will happen have been estimated based on the 

opinion of the Company's legal advisors.  

At the time of issue of these financial statements, the Company's Management understands 

that there are no elements that may allow to determine that other contingencies are likely to 

occur and cause a significant adverse impact on these financial statements.  

2.16. Income Tax  

The tax expense for the year comprises current and deferred taxes. Taxes are recognized in 

the income statement, except to the extent that they relate to items recognized in other 

comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognized in other 

comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.  

The current income tax is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantially 

enacted at the balance sheet date in the countries where the Company and its subsidiaries 

operate and generate taxable income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken 

in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to 

interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected 

to the paid to the tax authorities.  

Deferred tax is recognized, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising 

between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amount in the consolidated 

financial statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not recognized if they arise from 

the initial recognition of goodwill; or from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a 

transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects  
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2.16. Income Tax (Cont.) 

neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax 

rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the balance sheet date 

and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realized or the 

deferred income tax liability is settled.  

Deferred income tax assets are recognized only to the extent that it is probable that future 

taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilized.  

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in 

subsidiaries and associates, except for deferred income tax liability where the timing of the 

reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by the Group and it is probable that the 

temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.  

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset if, and only if, there is a legally 

enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the 

deferred income tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation 

authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is an 

intention to settle the balances on a net basis.  

In Argentina, the Company assesses the minimum presumptive income tax by applying the 

current 1 percent rate on the assets computable at each year end. This tax is supplementary 

to the income tax. The tax liability of the Company in each year will be the higher of both 

taxes. However, if the minimum presumptive income tax in a fiscal year exceeds income 

tax, such excess may be computed as a payment creditable against the final income tax 

liability that may arise in any of the ten following fiscal years.  

2.17. Cash and Cash Equivalents  

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, demand deposits with banks and other 

short-term highly liquid investments, with original maturities of three months or less, that 

are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant 

risk of changes in value.  

Assets recorded under cash and cash equivalents are recorded at fair value or the historical 

cost that approximates its fair value. 
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2.18. Other Financial Assets  

The Company classifies its financial assets in the following categories: those subsequently 

measured at amortized cost and those measured at fair value. This classification depends 

on the business model adopted by the Company to manage its financial assets and the 

characteristics of contractual cash flows of the financial assets.  

i) Financial assets at amortized cost 

Financial assets are valued at amortized cost when they meet the following criteria: the 

objective of the Company's business model is to hold the asset to collect the contractual 

cash flows, and the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are 

solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

ii) Financial assets at fair value 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are financial assets held for negotiation. 

A financial asset is classified in this category if acquired mainly for the purpose of selling 

in the short term. 

iii) Recognition and measurement 

Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized on the trade date, that is, the 

date on which the Company commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets 

classified as “at amortized cost” are initially recognized at fair value plus the transaction 

costs. Financial assets classified as “at fair value” through profit or loss are initially 

recognized at fair value, and transaction costs are expensed in the comprehensive income 

statement. They are later valued at fair value. Financial assets are derecognized when the 

rights to receive cash flows from them have expired or have been transferred and the 

Company has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. 

A gain or loss on a debt instrument that is later measured at fair value and is not part of a 

hedge ratio is recognized in profit or loss and is presented in the comprehensive income 

statement under "Net financial income" in the financial year in which they arise. 

A gain or loss on a debt instrument that is later measured at amortized cost and is not part 

of a hedge ratio is recognized in profit or loss when the financial asset is discounted or 

impaired and through the amortization process using the effective interest rate method. 
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2.18. Other Financial Assets (Cont.) 

The Company assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is any objective 

evidence that a financial asset carried at amortized cost is impaired. A financial asset or a 

group of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred only if there is 

objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the 

initial recognition of the asset (a ‘loss event’) and that loss has an impact on the estimated 

future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that can be reliably 

estimated. 

2.19. Labor Cost Liabilities and Loss-making Liabilities  

The Company has no option plans for the compensation of Board members or Managers.   

Remuneration of Board members and of the Statutory Audit Committee members has been 

fixed based on the responsibilities taken, the time devoted, professional competence and 

reputation and the value of the services in the market. The remuneration for managerial 

positions has a fixed component and a performance component based on fulfillment of 

objectives established by the Company Board and on length of service with the Company, 

being aligned with market remunerations. The performance component is charged to 

income for the financial year as accrued on the above-mentioned factors.  

2.20. Share Capital  

Share capital is formed by common, registered, non-endorsable shares, with a par value of 

$ 0.10 per share.   

For certain items of Shareholders’ Equity (legal reserve, optional reserve, special reserve 

and special reserve for IFRS adoption), as of the transition date of application of IAS 29, 

the opening balances remain at their nominal carrying amount. Subsequently, the opening 

balances and changes of items of Shareholders’ Equity have been restated in constant 

currency at year-end, following the guidelines of note 2.5. 

Share Capital has been stated at historical par value. The difference between the amount 

stated in constant currency at year-end and the historical par value has been exposed under 

Capital adjustment. 

2.21. Revenue Recognition  

Revenue is measured at the fair value restated following the guidelines of note 2.5 which 

coincide with the consideration received or receivable, and represents amounts receivable 

for the sale of goods, stated net of discounts and value added taxes. The Group recognizes 

revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured; when it is probable that 
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2.21. Revenue Recognition (Cont.) 

future economic benefits will flow to the entity; and when specific criteria have been met 

for each transaction.  

Citrus activity has a strong seasonal component, with around 70 percent of the harvest, 

production, sale and delivery activities of the global production of the company being 

conducted from April to September.  

2.22. Accounting Estimates  

The preparation of the financial statements as of a certain date requires the Company's 

management to make estimates and assessments that affect the amounts of assets and 

liabilities presented and contingent assets and liabilities disclosed as of that date, as well as 

income and expenses recorded in the year. The main sources of uncertainty in the 

estimation are as follows:   

The Company's management makes estimates to be able to calculate at a certain date 

amounts including, but not limited to, the provision for bad debts, depreciations and 

amortizations, the valuation of biological assets, the recoverable value of assets and the 

provisions for contingencies. Actual future results may differ from the estimates and 

assessments made as of the date of preparation of these consolidated financial statements.  

Biological Assets 

Before being harvested, our crops are considered biological assets. After harvest, the 

biological transformation ceases and harvested crops are transferred to inventories. Under 

IAS 41, crops under development that have not reached a significant biological growth are 

measured at cost less any impairment loss, which approximates to its fair value. Expenses 

capitalized for growing crops include land preparation costs and other production direct 

costs incurred during the seeding period, including costs of labor, fuel, seeds, 

agrochemicals and fertilizers. We measure biological assets (when the biological asset has 

reached a significant biological growth, and on each following measurement reporting 

date) and agricultural produce at the point of harvest at fair value less costs to sell. The 

purpose of the fair value model pursuant to IAS 41 is to gradually recognize profits and 

losses resulting from such measurements over the life of the asset instead of recognizing 

them only when sold or realized.  

After harvest, agricultural produce obtained is recorded as inventories at the fair value 

determined at the time of harvest.  
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2.22. Accounting Estimates (Cont.) 

Profits and losses arising from measuring biological assets at fair value less the costs to sell 

and measuring the agricultural produce at the point of harvest at fair value less the cost to 

sell are recognized in the income statement in the year they arise as "Changes in the fair 

value of current biological assets". 

For biological assets that do not have an active market, or market-determined prices during 

the growth cycle, their fair value is determined using discounted cash flow (DCF) 

valuation methods. Therefore, we generally derive the fair value of our growing biological 

assets from the expected cash flows of related agricultural produce. The DCF method 

requires highly subjective assumptions, including observable and non-observable data. In 

general, the fair value estimation of biological assets is based on models or supplies that 

are not observable in the market, and the use of non-observable supplies is significant for 

the general valuation of the assets. Several factors influence the availability of observable 

supplies, including, but not limited to, the type of asset and its location, weather changes 

and the technology used. 

Non-observable data are determined based on the best information available, for example, 

by reference to information on past practices and results, statistical and agricultural 

information and other analytic techniques. Changes in assumptions underlying such 

subjective supplies may materially affect the estimation of fair value and impact our 

operating income and financial condition from one year to the other. 

The DCF method requires the following significant entries for determining income and 

costs of the project: 

• Production cycles or number or harvests; 

• Production area in hectares; 

• Estimated crop yields; 

• Estimated costs of harvest and other costs that will be incurred until the crops 

reach maturity (mainly, pesticide, herbicide and fumigation costs); 

• Estimated transport costs; 

• Market prices; and 

• Discount rates. 

 

Market prices used in the DCF model are determined by reference to observable data in the 

relevant market. The harvest and other costs are estimated based on historical and 

statistical data. Yields are estimated by our agricultural engineers based on a range of 

factors, including the location of the growing lands, type of soil, environmental conditions, 
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2.22. Accounting Estimates (Cont.) 

infrastructure and other restrictions and the growth at the time of measurement. Yields are 

subject to a high degree of uncertainty and may be affected by several factors beyond our 

control, including, but not limited to, extreme or unusual weather conditions, pests and 

other diseases. Discount rates reflect current market assessments of the assets involved and 

the time value of money. 

All key assumptions discussed above are highly sensitive. Reasonable changes in the 

assumptions, including, but not limited to, increases or decreases in prices, yields and 

discount rates used, would result in a significant increase or decrease of the fair value of 

the biological assets and would significantly affect our income statement. 

The fair value determined is classified as Level 3. 

Fair Value of Property, Plant and Equipment 

Some judgment is needed to determine if the fair value of lands, buildings and facilities, 

machinery, plantations, vehicles and furniture and fixtures has substantially changed from 

acquisition or last revaluation. Determining the fair value at the time of revaluation 

requires estimates and assumptions based on market conditions at that time. Changes in 

estimates, assumptions or market conditions following a revaluation will cause changes in 

the fair value of tangible fixed assets. The carrying amount of tangible fixed assets and the 

valuation methods and assumptions are presented in note 2.10. 

Asset Impairment Test 

Assessing the recoverability of long-lived assets recorded requires a significant judgment. 

The Company tests the value of these assets annually or in case there is an indicator.  

As of December 31, 2018 business estimates were made taking into account the Company's 

market knowledge and the growth expectation for costs and income in order to analyze the 

use value of non-current assets (determined as the present value of future cash flows to be 

generated by these assets) and compare them to their carrying amount. This revaluation of 

recoverability of non-current assets is made annually or more often is there are events or 

circumstances that indicate a potential impairment. 

These cash flow projections were made using calculations based on the financial budgets, 

adapted to a five-year period. Cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated 

using an estimated growth rate of the industry.  
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2.22. Accounting Estimates (Cont.) 

The discount rates used are real interest rates and reflect specific risks related to the 

industry and the country where the Company operates.  

Cash flow has been prepared based on estimates, sensitizing some variables if appropriate.  

Based on this analysis, the Company considers that the carrying amount of these assets 

does not exceed the use value estimated according to the present economic and technical 

conditions. 

However, the Company is not in a position to ensure that the future behavior of the 

assumptions used to prepare its projections will be in line with the estimates,   

thus they may differ from the estimates made as of the date of preparation of these 

financial statements. 

2.23. Joint Ventures  

The Company's interest in jointly controlled entities is accounted for using the equity 

method. The investment of the Company in jointly controlled entities includes goodwill 

(net of any loss from the asset's impairment) identified at the time of the acquisition.  

The Company's share of profit or loss of its joint ventures, after the date of acquisition, is 

recognized in the income statement, and its share of adjustment changes to equity after the 

date of acquisition is recognized in adjustments to equity.  

2.24. Goodwill  

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries, and represents the excess of the 

consideration transferred over the interest in fair value of the identified assets, liabilities 

and contingent liabilities of the acquiree and the fair value of the non-controlling interest in 

the acquiree.   

For the purpose of the impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is 

allocated to each of the cash generating units (CGUs) or group of CGUs, that is expected 

to benefit from the synergies of the combination. Each unit or group of units which the 

goodwill is allocated to represents the lowest level within the entity at which the goodwill 

is monitored for internal management purposes. Goodwill is monitored at the operating 

segment level. 

 

 



S.A. SAN MIGUEL A.G.I.C.I. Y F. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont.) 

See our report dated 

March 7, 2019 

PRICE WATERHOUSE & CO. S.R.L. 
 

 

(Partner) 

Prof. Lic. No. 7336.1 

32  

NOTE 2. BASIS FOR PREPARATION AND ADOPTION OF INTERNATIONAL 

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (IFRS) (Cont.) 

 

2.24. Goodwill (Cont.) 

Goodwill is not amortized. Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken annually or more 

frequently if events or circumstances indicate a potential impairment. The carrying value 

of goodwill is compared to the recoverable amount, which is the higher of value in use and 

the fair value less costs to sell. Any impairment is recognized immediately as an expense 

and is not subsequently reversed.  

2.25. Impairment of Non-financial Assets  

Assets that have an indefinite useful life (for example, goodwill or certain intangible 

assets) are not subject to amortization and are tested annually for impairment. Assets that 

are subject to amortization are reviewed for impairment whenever events or circumstances 

indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.   

A loss on impairment is recognized for the amount by which the asset's carrying amount 

exceeds its recoverable amount. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are 

grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (CGUs). 

Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered impairment in previous years are 

reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each year-end.  

2.26. Non-current Assets Held for Sale  

Non-current assets are classified as assets held for sale when their carrying amount is to be 

recovered principally through a sale transaction and a sale is considered highly probable. 

They are stated at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.  

2.27. Hedging Activities 

Derivatives are only used for hedging risks and not as speculative investments. The 

Company's policy is to purchase or sell exchange rate and interest rate futures contracts. 

Any derivative instrument that the Company has to hedge these exposures is classified as 

“Fair value through profit and loss” since they do not meet all the requirements for the 

application of hedging accounting. 

2.28. Leases and Farm Partnerships 

The Company is a lessee under certain operating lease agreements. The leases in which a 

significant portion of the risks and rewards related to ownership are retained by the lessor 

are classified as operating leases. The payments made under operating leases, net of any 

incentive received from the lessor, are charged to the income statement 
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on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. 

2.29 Social Benefits 

(a) Early retirement benefits 

Termination benefits are paid when the employment is terminated before the normal 

retirement date or when an employee decides to accept voluntary redundancy in exchange 

for these benefits. The Company recognizes the early retirement benefits when it is 

demonstrably committed to either i) terminate the employment relationship of employees 

pursuant to a detailed formal plan with no possibility of resignation, or ii) provide 

termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage the voluntary redundancy. 

These benefits are recognized at present value of the cash flows that the Company expects 

to disburse. 

(b) Bonuses to personnel 

The Company recognizes liabilities and bonus expenses when the benefit is accrued. 

Additionally, the Company recognizes a provision when it is not legally or contractually 

bound, or when there is a past practice that has created an obligation undertaken. 

2.30. Earnings per Share 

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing net income for the year available to 

shareholders by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the 

year.  

2.31. Dividend Distribution 

Cash dividend distribution to Group's shareholders is recognized as a liability in the 

financial statements in the year in which dividends are approved. 

 

NOTE 3. SEGMENT REPORTING 

 

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reports provided 

by the Group's chief operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is 

responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, 

has been identified as the Management that makes strategic decisions. (See Note 11). 
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NOTE 4. BREAKDOWN OF THE ACCOUNTS OF THE CONSOLIDATED 

BALANCE SHEET AND OF THE CONSOLIDATED COMPREHENSIVE 

INCOME STATEMENT 

Below is a breakdown of the main accounts of the consolidated balance sheet and of the 

consolidated comprehensive income statement. 

 

 12.31.18 12.31.17 
 Thousands of $  

a) Cash and cash equivalents   

Cash  4,354              4,901  

Banks  783,809           321,960  

Subtotal  788,163           326,861  

Other financial assets  39,387           122,405  

Total funds according to cash flow statement 827,550           449,266  

  

b) Trade receivables   

Trade receivables Fresh Fruit            258,831             345,103  

Trade receivables Industrial Products              53,330             169,685  

Controlled Company art. 33 Law No. 19550 (Note 9)            136,626             130,109  

Subtotal            448,787             644,897  

Allowance for doubtful receivables (Schedule E)          (10,884)          (10,634) 

Total             437,903             634,263  
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 12.31.18 12.31.17 

 Thousands of $ 

c) Other receivables   

Current   

Sundry receivables            564,169             220,436  

Tax credits             360,152             313,738  

Loans to employees              17,127                 3,055  

Prepayment to suppliers             432,605             284,095  

Loans to third parties                 3,231                 4,044  

Prepaid expenses               26,788               82,052  

Export tax reimbursements receivable             213,436             207,114  

Controlled Company art. 33 Law No. 19550 (Note 9)                     -                   2,977  

Other               19,374                 3,216  

Subtotal 1,636,882 1,120,727 

Allowance for doubtful receivables (Schedule E)           (15,728)                     -    

Total  1,621,154 1,120,727 

 

Non-current   

Sundry receivables            150,002                 3,793  

Prepaid expenses              61,644               33,420  

Allowance for prepayment to suppliers (Schedule E)           (11,130)           (16,435) 

Prepayment to suppliers              52,797               16,435  

Controlled Company art. 33 Law No. 19550 (Note 9)            175,961               36,122  

Total 429,274 73,335 

 

d) Inventories   

Current   

Industrial products (Schedule F) 529,103 515,687 

Fresh fruit harvested (Schedule F) 232,023 2,504 

Materials and supplies 553,181 360,451 

Total 1,314,307          878,642  

   

Non-current   

Materials and supplies 17,651           19,273  

Total 17,651 19,273  
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  12.31.18   12.31.17  
 Thousands of $ 

e) Investments in associates   

Investments in related companies (Note 6)            100,399               47,809  

Total 100,399 47,809 

 

f) Accounts payable  
  

Accounts payable          2,278,229          1,387,410  

Controlled Company art. 33 Law No. 19550 (Note 9)              26,033                      -    

Total 2,304,262 1,387,410 

 

g) Loans   

Current   

Unsecured notes payable (Note 7) 1,549,138           1,838,995  

Secured notes payable (Note 7) 174,441           375,733  

Corporate notes Series I (Note 8)  -              420,669  

Bank overdraft  -            20,030  

Leasing financial creditors  28,273                 73,548  

Total 1,751,852          2,728,975  

 

Non-current 
  

Unsecured notes payable (Note 7) 492,650            911,589  

Secured notes payable (Note 7) 4,427,783           857,798  

Leasing financial creditors  9,876 25,175 

Total 4,930,309       1,794,562  

   

h) Other liabilities   

Board and Statutory Audit Committee fees 13,910              12,145  

Exchange insurance provision 1,719 - 

Other 28,981            122,827  

Total 44,610            134,972  

   

Non-current   

Other  16,686 11,992  

Total  16,686 11,992  
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i) Sales 

 

Breakdown 

 Industrial  

 products  

Fresh 

fruit 
Services 12.31.18 12.31.17 

Thousands of $ 

 Sales to domestic market  868,469 369,261 51,018  1,288,748 650,632 

 Sales to international market  4,313,424 4,250,199 22,661    8,586,284 5,158,780 

 Other income net of duties  47,768 35,635 - 83,403 190,430 

 Net sales as of 12.31.18  5,229,661 4,655,095 73,679 9,958,435  

 Net sales as of 12.31.17  2,669,183 3,308,109 22,550  5,999,842 

 

 

 12.31.18 12.31.17 
 Profit / (Loss) 
  $  

j) Profit (loss) from investments in associates   

Profit (loss) Related companies Law No. 19550 (Note 6) 14,464 2,367 

Total  14,464 2,367 

 

 

k) Other income and expenses   

Gain (loss) on sale of Property, plant and equipment 126,763 96,968 

Other 184,418 88,723 

Total  311,181 185,691 

 

l) Adjustments to determine the net cash flows  

 

Adjustments to determine the net cash flows   

from ordinary operating activities:   

Depreciation of Property, plant and equipment 458,048 383,205 

Changes in value of biological assets (1,246,475) (521,376) 

Gain (loss) on sale of Property, plant and equipment (126,763) (96,968) 

Profit (loss) from investments in associates (14,464) (2,367) 

Provision for lawsuits and bad debts 20,399 37,424 

Total (950,053) (200,082) 
  

Cash and banks 788,163 326,861 

Other financial assets 39,387 122,405 

Total cash at year-end 827,550 449,266 
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For the purpose of preparing the statement of cash flows the gain (loss) on exposure to 

change in the purchasing power of the currency has not been separated and therefor the 

variations of operating assets and liabilities contain such effect. The company has applied 

this method considering that the financial statements as a whole are stated in constant 

currency, thus contributing to their better interpretation. 

 

NOTE 5. INVESTMENT PROMOTIONAL DECLARATION  

 

On September 8, 2011, the activity of the investment project submitted by subsidiary 

Samifruit Uruguay S.A. was declared as promoted. Such investment was intended to 

increase the citrus production and processing capacity for an amount of UI (indexed units 

of account) 357,253. 

Such exemption applies to all import taxes, added value tax (with a cap of UI 49.7 million) 

and income tax on business activities.  

The exemption of the income tax on business activities, equivalent to 65.25 percent of the 

eligible investment, will be applicable for an 18-year period as from the period beginning 

on 01/01/2009 and ending 12/31/2009, or from the period in which tax income is obtained, 

as long as four periods from the promotional declaration have not elapsed.  

The exemptible amount in each period shall not exceed the lower of the investment 

actually made and the total exemptible amount.  

As of December 31, 2018 about UI 173.197 million have been invested in this project. As 

of this date, the site with the civil works done within the project has been sold off, prior 

authorization of the relevant Authority, valued at UI 21 million. 

As a result of this sale, the benefits of the net worth tax directly related to them have been 

forfeited. Please note that the remaining investments in civil works continue to be 

accounted for as committed investment for the purposes of the income tax exemption. 
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NOTE 6. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 

The breakdown of this account is as follows: 

Company Country 
Core 

% 
Carrying amount at 

activity 12.31.18 12.31.17 

Venco Fruit 

Processors Ltd. 

South 

Africa 

Exploitation of a citrus 

juice processing plant   
39%          78,639           47,809  

Novacore S.A. Uruguay 

Prod. and commerc. of 

industrial products derived 

from citrus  

50%                  -                     -    

Andean Sun Produce 
United 

States 

Fruit and vegetable 

commercialization  
40%          21,759                   -    

Agrícola Hoja 

Redonda 
Peru 

Prod. and commer. of 

citrus, avocado and grapes 
0.0000465%                   1                   -    

Total as of 12.31.18        100,399    

Total as of 12.31.17            47,809  

 

Information required by Schedule C, in compliance with Art. 1, Chapter III, Title IV of TO/CNV. 

The following table shows the evolution of the account: 

  12.31.18 12.31.17 

Balance at beginning of year 47,809 16,737 

Profit (loss) from long-term investments in associates          14,464           2,367  

Variation of translation reserve and other comprehensive income          38,126         28,705  

Total as of 12.31.18 100,399   

Total as of 12.31.17   47,809 

 

Below there is summary financial information on the associates as of December 31, 2018, 

as required by IFRS12: 

 

Company 

Summary Income 

Sales 
Gross income for 

the period 

Income for the 

period 

Comprehensive 

income for the period 

Venco Fruit Processors Ltd. 509,980 151,358 34,952 34,952 

Novacore S.A. 263,505 14,240 119 119 

Andean Sun Produce 1,372,340 71,399 13,941          13,941 

Agrícola Hoja Redonda 898,768 140,014 11,382 11,382 

Thudana Citrus S.A. 106,689 -   (14,894) (14,894) 

Total as of 12.31.18 3,151,282 377,012 45,500 45,500 
 

Information required by Schedule C, in compliance with Art. 1, Chapter III, Title IV of TO/CNV. 

 

 

NOTE 6. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Cont.) 

Company Summary Balance Sheet 
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Non-

current 

Assets 

Current 

Assets 

Non-

current 

Liabilities 

Current 

Liabilities 

Shareholders’ 

Equity 

Venco Fruit Processors Ltd. 462,067 474,334 295,151 438,779 202,471 

Novacore S.A. 4,004 212,007 - 248,688 (32,677) 

Thudana Citrus S.A. 216,690 138,872 - 377,382 (21,820) 

Andean Sun Produce 3,213 169,679 - 118,494 54,398 

Agrícola Hoja Redonda 3,550,130 1,240,271 668,420 1,423,383 2,268,598 

Total as of 12.31.18 4,236,104 2,235,163 963,571 2,606,726 2,900,970 

 

NOTE 7. LOANS  

The following table provides information on the major bank loans: 

 12.31.18 12.31.17 
 Thousands of $  

Current and Non-current Loans   

Unsecured notes payable  2,041,788 2,750,584 

Secured notes payable  4,602,224 1,233,531  

Leasing financial creditors 38,149 98,723 

Corporate notes Series I - 420,669 

Current account overdrafts - 20,030 

Total 6,682,161 4,523,537 

   

The major loans of the Group are: 

SAMI – SAMU – SAMII – AHR - Samifruit 

IFC – IDB Invest - IDB International Finance Corporation – Inter-American Investment Corporation - Inter-

American Development Bank  

Date granted December, 2018 

Maturity date Nine years 

Grace period Two-year grace period 

Initial principal USD 100,000,000 nominated in US dollars and Euros (Schedule G) 

Fund allocation Financing its production investment programs and improving the maturity profile of 

SAMI's long-term liabilities. 

Security First mortgage on certain real estate and assets of SAMI Argentina. Security interests on 

rural real estate and Famaillá plant. 

Covenants SAMI has agreed to certain financial covenants to the IFC and IDB, measured on the 

consolidated financial statements, the most relevant being as follows: 

Liquidity no lower than: 1.0 

Adjusted Solvency no lower than: 0.4 

Net Financial Debt / EBITDA no higher than: 2.75 

EBITDA / interest (no lower than): 2.5 

At each financial year end, investments in property, plant and equipment and capital 
expenditures shall not annually exceed the amounts of: USD 30,000,000 for the year 2018 

and 2019, USD 35,000,000 for the year 2020 and USD 25,000,000 onwards taking into 

account that, if in a year such amount is not totally invested, such amount may be included 
to the amount to be invested in the following year for up to USD 10,000,000.  

Additionally, this agreement has restrictions on the declaration or payment of dividends 

and/or other distributions to shareholders. 

Insurance 
 

The consolidated insured amount of all buildings, machinery, facilities according to our 
insurance policies is ARS 5,954,918 (thousand pesos), their carrying amount being equal to 

ARS 4,385,588 (thousand pesos). 

 

NOTE 7. LOANS (Cont.)  
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SAMI 
RABO Coöperatieve Rabobank U.A. 

Date granted November 2016 
Maturity date Renewable up to a maximum period of 3 years 

Initial principal EUR 15,000,000 

Covenants SAMI has agreed to certain financial covenants to RABO, measured on the consolidated 
financial statements, the most relevant being as follows: 

Debt Ratio (Net Financial Debt / EBITDA): it must be lower than 2.75. 

Adjusted Solvency Ratio (Adjusted Equity / Adjusted Assets): it must be higher than 0.25. 
Current Ratio (Current Assets / Current Liabilities): it has to be higher than 1. 

Interest Coverage Ratio (EBITDA / Interest): it has to be higher than 2.5. 

Adjusted Equity: it must be higher than USD 90,000,000 at the end of each quarterly 

balance sheet. Adjusted Equity is determined excluding the carrying amount of long-term 

assets of the Company and including their market value. 

 

SAMII 

Standard Bank  Standard Bank South Africa 

Date granted October 2011 

Maturity date 15 years 

Initial principal 50,000,000 Rands 

Fund allocation Financing the acquisition of the farm called River Bend 

Security First mortgage on the real property acquired 

 

AHR 

Banco Crédito de Perú Banco Crédito de Perú 

Date granted December 29, 2015 

Maturity date December 2023 

Initial principal USD 17,000,000 

Fund allocation Developing the Chepén expansion project 

Security First mortgage on the real property acquired 

Covenants AHR has agreed to certain financial covenants to BCP, measured on the 

consolidated financial statements, the most relevant being the ones listed 

below; in this sense, the client is bound to maintain the following 

financial ratios: 

Debt Service Coverage Ratio (DSCR / Debt Service) higher than 1.25x. 

Current Ratio (Current Assets / Current Liabilities) no lower than 1x. 

Debt-to-Equity Ratio (Total Liabilities / Shareholders' Equity) no higher 

than 0.75x. 
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NOTE 7. LOANS (Cont.) 

Security  

The Group offered several fixed assets to secure its loans with financial institutions. As of 

December 31, 2018, the securities offered to these financial institutions are as follows: 

 

Company Book value Type of security 

Samifruit Uruguay S.A. 1,581,039 Security interest 

SAMII 354,614 Security interest 

SAMI 6,428,069 Security interest 

AHR 903,862 Security interest 

 

Restricted assets are recorded under “Property, plant and equipment” in the Consolidated 

Balance Sheet and the amounts due to the bank are recorded under “Loans”. 

Below is a breakdown by maturity period of the carrying amount of the Group's loans: 

Balances as of December 31, 2018: 

 

 

Non-current 
1 to 2 

years 
2 to 3 years 3 to 5 yeas Over 5 years Total 

 Thousands of $ 

Unsecured notes payable to banks  40,743 246,994 165,862 39,051 492,650 

Secured notes payable to banks  430,785 778,319 1,376,342 1,842,337 4,427,783 

Leasing financial creditors 4,160 5,716 - - 9,876 

Total as of 12.31.18 475,688 1,031,029 1,542,204 1,881,388 4,930,309 

 

 

 

Current 
Up to 3  

months 
3 to 6 months 6 to 9 months 

9 to 12 

months 
Total 

 Thousands of $ 

Unsecured notes payable to banks  361,573 266,466 375,237 545,862 1,549,138 

Secured notes payable to banks  100,782 13,382 23,189 37,088 174,441 

Leasing financial creditors 4,390 18,023 1,584 4,276 28,273 

Total as of 12.31.18 466,745 297,871 400,010 587,226 1,751,852 
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NOTE 7. LOANS (Cont.) 

 

Balances as of December 31, 2017: 

 

Non-current 
1 to 2 

years 
2 to 3 years 3 to 5 yeas Over 5 years Total 

 Thousands of $ 

Unsecured notes payable to banks  888,457 5,812 11,622 5,698 911,589 

Secured notes payable to banks  59,867 152,381 327,966 317,584 857,798 

Leasing financial creditors 21,416 3,759 - - 25,175 

Total as of 12.31.2017 969,740 161,952 339,588 323,282 1,794,562 

 

 

Current 
Up to 3  

months 

3 to 6 

months 
6 to 9 months 9 to 12 months Total 

 Thousands of $ 

Unsecured notes payable to banks  120,900 295,719 1,418,853 3,523 1,838,995 

Secured notes payable to banks  64,572 78,821 75,177 157,163 375,733 

Leasing financial creditors 18,386 18,387 18,387 18,388 73,548 

Bank overdraft  20,030 - - - 20,030 

Corporate notes Series I 3,069 - 417,600 - 420,669 

Total as of 12.31.2017 226,957 392,927 193,017 179,074 2,728,975 

 

NOTE 8. ISSUE OF REGULAR CORPORATE NOTES  

The Company has issued corporate notes that have been paid at maturity on October 8, 

2018, there being no notes outstanding at December 31, 2018.  
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NOTE 9. TRANSACTIONS WITH CONTROLLED, RELATED AND 

AFFILIATED COMPANIES 

Below is a breakdown of balances outstanding as of December 31, 2018 and December 31, 

2017 with related entities: 

 
 12.31.18 12.31.17 
  Thousands of $  

Trade receivables   

Novacore S.A. 121,025        117,288  

Venco Fruit Processors (Pty) Ltd. 15,601 12,821  

 136,626 130,109 

   

Other current receivables   

Thudana Citrus - 2,977 

 - 2,977 

   

Other non-current receivables   

Thudana Citrus 128,830 - 

Novacore S.A. 165 121 

Venco Fruit Processors (Pty) Ltd. 46,966 36,001 

 175,961 36,122 

   

Accounts payable   

Novacore S.A. 26,033    - 

 26,033    - 

 

Below is a breakdown of transactions as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 with related 

entities: 

 

 
 12.31.18 12.31.17 
 Thousands of $  

Sales   

Andean Sun 19,093 -  

Thudana Citrus 7,013 -  

Novacore S.A. 66,892 59,971 

 92,998 59,971 

   

Other income and expenses   

Novacore 10,925 14,070 

Venco Fruit Processors (Pty) Ltd. - 19,705 

 10,925 33,775 
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NOTE 9. TRANSACTIONS WITH CONTROLLED, RELATED AND 

AFFILIATED COMPANIES (Cont.) 

 

 
 12.31.18 12.31.17 
 $  

Purchases   

Novacore S.A. 60,894 - 

 60,894 - 

 

 

 

Accounts receivable and payable with related entities are unsecured and do not accrue 

interest. 

 

Social Benefits 

 

Compensation and other benefits to the Board accrued as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 

amounted to $ 18,148 and $ 13,590 respectively. $ 11,784 and $ 8,226 are respectively 

outstanding as of December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, both recorded in Other 

liabilities. 

 

NOTE 10. INCOME TAX – DEFERRED TAX  

 

The charge for income tax of the Group includes the charge for current or deferred taxes 

payable attributable to the subsidiaries and combined entities of the Group in their 

respective jurisdictions. Tax is recognized in the comprehensive income statement, except 

as related to items directly recognized in Shareholders' Equity, in which case they are also 

recognized in Shareholders' Equity.   

Subsidiaries and combined entities must calculate and submit their income tax returns 

separately, instead of preparing a combined tax return. Therefore, subsidiaries and 

combined entities may not offset losses of one entity against the income of another entity. 

Regulatory income tax rates of each country where the Group has legal personality are as 

follows: 

 

 2018 2017 

Argentina 30% 35% 

Peru 19% 19% 

South Africa 26% 26% 

Holland 25% 25% 

Uruguay 25 % 25 % 
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NOTE 10. INCOME TAX – DEFERRED TAX (Cont.) 

 

Tax Reform in Argentina 

On December 29, 2017, the National Executive Power enacted Law No. 27430 - Income 
Tax. This law has introduced several changes for the treatment of income tax, with the 
following key elements: 

Income Tax Rate:  

Income Tax rate for Argentine companies will be gradually reduced from 35 percent to 30 
percent for fiscal years beginning as from January 1, 2018 through December 31, 2019 and 
to 25 percent for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2020. 

Dividend Tax:  

A tax on dividends or profit distributions, among others, by Argentine companies or 
permanent businesses to: individuals, undivided estates or beneficiaries from abroad, is 
introduced with the followings considerations: (i) dividends from profits generated during 
fiscal years beginning as from January 1, 2018 and through December 31, 2019 are subject 
to a 7 percent withholding; and (ii) dividends from profits from fiscal years beginning on 
or after January 1, 2020 will be subject to a 13 percent withholding.  

Dividends from profits obtained through the fiscal year prior to the one beginning on or 

after January 1, 2018 will continue to be subject, for all beneficiaries thereof, to the 35 

percent withholding on the amount exceeding the accumulated profits that are distributable 

free of tax (transition year of the equalization tax). 

Elective Tax Revaluation:  

The law establishes that, at the discretion of the Companies, the property located in the 

country and subject to the generation of taxable income may be revalued for tax purposes. 

The special tax on the amount of the revaluation depends on the property, being 8 percent 

for real estate not considered inventories, 15 percent for real estate considered inventories 

and 10 percent for personal property and other property. Once this option is exercised for 

a certain property, all other property of the same category should be revalued. 

The taxable income resulting from the revaluation is not subject to income tax and the 

special tax on the amount of the revaluation shall not be deductible from such tax.  

As of the date of these financial statements, the Company is discussing the possibility of 

exercising this option.  
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NOTE 10. INCOME TAX – DEFERRED TAX (Cont.) 

Deduction Adjustments:  

Acquisitions or investments made in the fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 

2018, will be adjusted based on the percentage variations of the Internal Index Wholesale 

Prices (Índice de Precios Internos al por Mayor, IPIM) provided by the National Institute 

of Statistics and Censuses (Instituto Nacional de Estadística y Censos, INDEC), a situation 

that will increase the deductible amortization and its computable cost in case of sale. 

The tables below show the evolution and composition of assets and liabilities due to 

deferred tax, regardless of the balance offsetting within the same tax jurisdiction: 

Deferred assets: 
Due to tax 

losses 
Other 

Accounts 

payable Total 

Thousands of $ 

Opening balance 347,298 848 25,956 374,102 

Translation exchange difference 74,583 3,704 9,300 87,587 

Charged to income  272,232 (1,413) 26,464 297,283 

Rate change impact (28,170) - - (28,170) 

Balances at year-end 665,943 3,139 61,720 730,802 

 

Deferred liabilities: 

Prop., plant 

and 

equipment 

Biol. 

assets 

Accel. 

deduction 

of non- 

accrued 

expenses 

Total 

 Thousands of $ 

Opening balance 1,259,940 61,379 21,430 1,342,749 

Translation exchange difference 133,676 55,832 (3,938) 185,570 

Charged to income (112,161) 21,287 (21,293) (112,167) 

Revaluation 1,576,826   -          - 1,576,826 

Rate change impact (2,311) - - (2,311) 

Balances at year-end 2,855,970 138,498 (3,801) 2,990,667 

 

As of December 31, 2018, accumulated tax losses from income tax not expired due to the 

statute of limitations that could be offset with tax profits in future fiscal years amount to 

$ 170,127. 
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NOTE 10. INCOME TAX – DEFERRED TAX (Cont.)  

 

The following table shows the accumulated tax losses not expired due to the statute of 

limitations by year of generation and year of expiration: 

Year of generation Amount (*) Year of expiration due to statute 

of limitation 

2005 4,336 No statute of limitations 

2006 5,267 No statute of limitations 

2007 5,116 No statute of limitations 

2010 5,701 No statute of limitations 

2016 17,264 No statute of limitations 

2016 8,082 2021 

2017 2,489 No statute of limitations 

2017 186,946 2022 

2018 49,614 No statute of limitations 

2018 381,128 2023 

Total 665,943   

(*) Nominal values 

Below is a reconciliation between income tax charged to income and the one that would 

result from the application of the current tax rate on the book income before tax: 

   

 12.31.18 12.31.17 

 

$ 

Profit / (Loss) 

 Thousands of $ 

Income (loss) before income tax for the period (1,404,265) (643,340) 

Current average tax rate 28% 33% 

Net income (loss) for the year at tax rate 393,194 212,303 

Inflation adjustment of Shareholders’ Equity accounts (118,401) 826,285 

Elimination of permanent differences at tax rate 52,539 (246,368) 

Rate change adjustment (25,859) (99,037) 

Total income tax for the year  301,473 693,183 
 

(a) For the purpose of applying the changes in the income tax rates to the deferred income tax assets 

and liabilities according to the tax reform explained above based on their expected realization year.
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NOTE 10. INCOME TAX – DEFERRED TAX (Cont.)  

 

As of December 31, 2018 and as of December 31, 2017, deferred income tax assets and 

liabilities of the Group will be recovered or paid off as follows: 

 

  

  
12.31.18 12.31.17 

Deferred income tax assets, net to be recovered after 

12 months  
665,943 347,298 

Deferred income tax assets, net to be recovered within 

12 months  
64,859 26,804 

Deferred income tax assets, net   730,802 374,102 

Deferred income tax liabilities, net to be paid off after 

12 months  
2,855,970 1,259,940 

Deferred income tax liabilities, net to be paid off 

within 12 months  
134,697 82,809 

Deferred income tax liabilities, net 2,990,667 1,342,749 

Deferred income tax assets/liabilities, net  (2,259,865)        (968,647) 

 

 



S.A. SAN MIGUEL A.G.I.C.I. Y F. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Cont.) 

See our report dated 

March 7, 2019 

PRICE WATERHOUSE & CO. S.R.L. 
 

 

(Partner) 

Prof. Lic. No. 7336.1 

51  

NOTE 11. SEGMENT REPORTING 

  

Management has determined the operating segments based on the information reviewed by 

the management team for the purposes of allocating resources and assessing performance.  

Management considers the business from both a business and geographical perspective.  

Below we include certain accounting information classified according to the related 

segment, corresponding to the individual business.     

 

Primary segment: Business 

 

Consolidated income information as of 12.31.2018 

 

 

  
Finished 

Products 
Fresh Fruit Services 

Central 

administration 
Total 

  Thousands of $ 

Net sales 5,229,661 4,655,095 73,679 - 9,958,435 

Changes in value of biological assets - 1,246,475 - - 1,246,475 

Cost of goods and products sold (2,553,625) (4,992,138) (21,728) - (7,567,491) 

Gross income 2,676,036 909,432 51,951 - 3,637,419 

Distribution and selling expenses (507,410) (451,663) (7,149) - (966,222) 

Administrative expenses - - - (857,721) (857,721) 

Operating income 2,168,626 457,769 44,802 (857,721) 1,813,476 

 

 

  
Finished 

Products 
Fresh Fruit 

Central 

administration 
Total 

Depreciations and amortizations 54,322 336,592 67,134 458,048 

 

Consolidated income information as of 12.31.2017 

 

 

  
Finished 

Products 

Fresh  

Fruit 

Services Central 

administration 
Total 

  Thousands of $ 

Net sales 2,669,183 3,308,109 22,550 - 5,999,842 

Changes in value of biological assets - 521,376 - - 521,376 

Cost of goods and products sold (2,256,284) (3,761,437) (4,166) - (6,021,887) 

Gross income 412,899 68,048 18,384 - 499,331 

Distribution and selling expenses (316,707) (392,518) (2,676) - (711,901) 

Administrative expenses - -  (641,712) (641,712) 

Operating income 96,192 (324,470) 15,708 (641,712) (854,282) 
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NOTE 11. SEGMENT REPORTING (Cont.) 

 

 

  
Finished  

Products 
Fresh Fruit Services 

Central 

administration 
Total 

Depreciations and amortizations 100,412 241,870 - 40,923 383,205 

 

Additional consolidated information as of 12.31.2018 

  
Finished 

Products 
Fresh Fruit 

Central 

Administration 
Total 

 Additions of Property, plant and equipment  58,436 1,093,879 33,598                 1,185,913  

 

Additional consolidated information as of 12.31.2017 

 

  
Finished 

Products 
Fresh Fruit 

Central 

Administration 
Total 

 Additions of Property, plant and equipment  208,469 60,806 132,033                 401,308  

 

Secondary segment: Geographical 

 

Consolidated income information as of 12.31.2018 

 

 

 

Item 
Domestic market International market Total 

$ 

Net sales 1,288,748 8,669,687 9,958,435 

Acq. Prop., plant and equipment 1,185,913  1,185,913 
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NOTE 11. SEGMENT REPORTING (Cont.) 

 

Consolidated income information as of 12.31.2017 

 

 

Item 

Domestic  

market 

International 

 market 
Total 

Thousands of $ 

Net sales 650,632 5,349,210 5,999,842 

Acq. Prop., plant and equipment 401,308 - 401,308 

 

 

The reconciliation of income (loss) to Income for the year for the years ended December 

31, 2018 and 2017 is as follows: 

  

12.31.18 12.31.17 

Thousands of $ 

Operating income         1,813,476             (854,282) 

Financial income - Gain- (Loss):     

     - Financial revenues:     

       Interest              48,918                 18,538  

       Exchange difference         1,374,906               366,555  

     - Financial costs:     

       Interest and commissions           (633,795)            (346,213) 

       Tax on Credits and Debits Law No. 25413             (37,258)              (42,206) 

       Exchange difference        (5,104,147)            (814,912) 

Gain (loss) on exposure to change in the purchasing power of the 

currency (Note 2.5) 
           807,990               196,079  

Other income and expenses             311,181               185,691  

Profit (loss) from investments in associates              14,464                  2,367  

Gain on business acquisition                     -                 645,043  

Net income (loss) before income tax - Loss        (1,404,265)            (643,340) 

Income tax            301,473               693,183  

Net Loss for the Year        (1,102,792)                49,843  
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NOTE 12. EARNINGS PER SHARE 

 

Below are the data used as a basis for estimating the basic and diluted earnings per share:  

 

 12.31.18 12.31.17 

 Thousands of $ 

Net income (loss) for the period (1,102,792) 49,843 

Number of common shares subscribed and paid-in 711,510 711,510 

Earnings per share: (1.55) 0.07 

Basic and diluted: (1.55) 0.07 
 

 

The Company has not issued preferred shares or convertible debt.  

 

NOTE 13. ACQUISITION OF AGRÍCOLA HOJA REDONDA 

On August 15, 2017, the Company acquired, though its subsidiary S.A. San Miguel 

Uruguay (SAMU), the total votes and shares of Agrícola Hoja Redonda S.A. (“AHR”), a 

company engaged in the production business and based in Peru, pursuant to the terms 

approved by the Company's Board in its meeting held on July 14, 2017. 

AHR is engaged in the production and sale of mandarins, avocado and grapes, having 

1,708 hectares of land suitable for planting. Of that total, 1,382 hectares are planted, 

offering an output of 28,000 annual tons of fruit. 

The purchase price for the company was USD 45,338,787, which was determined taking 

into account the amount of financial debt and other adjustments related to working capital.  

For the acquisition, part of the funds received during the recent capital increase of San 

Miguel Argentina S.A. and funds from the current credit facilities of the Company were 

used, and the payment was made on behalf and at the expense of SAMU. 

On September 27, 2017, SAMU subscribed the capital increase made by San Miguel 

Argentina S.A., through the capitalization of USD 45,338,787, an amount that was used to 

pay the acquisition price of Agrícola Hoja Redonda S.A. 

As provided by the International Financial Reporting Standards in force, AHR's assets and 

liabilities have been recognized at their fair value at acquisition date.  
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NOTE 13. ACQUISITION OF AGRÍCOLA HOJA REDONDA S.A. (Cont.) 

 Fair 

 value 

 ARS'000 USD'000 

Assets acquired and liabilities undertaken   

Cash and cash equivalents       47,817  1,910 

Accounts receivable       351,920  14,044 

Inventories       244,820  9,770 

Prepaid taxes and expenses       110,804  4362 

Property, plantations, machinery and equipment, net    2,094,294  83,547 

Other assets           8,321  332 

Accounts payable     (233,369) (9,313) 

Financial obligations     (750,071) (29,933) 

Deferred income tax liabilities, net       (93,398) (3,636) 

Total Assets acquired and liabilities undertaken    1,781,137  71,083 

Price paid     1,136,095  45,339 

Gain on business combination       645,043  25,744 

As a result of this acquisition, SAMU recognized an initial gain as of September 2017 of 

ARS 391,539 in view of the confirmation of the transaction to the presentation of these 

individual financial statements, the above mentioned registration process was made on an 

estimated and preliminary basis and, therefore, as of December 2017 this gain had an 

adjustment of ARS 45,334 raising the recognized gain to ARS 436,873 (nominal value) 

and ARS 645,043 restated as of December 31, 2018 pursuant to note 2.5. 

On February 6, 2018, an agreement additional to the stock purchase agreement was entered 

into whereby the Company and the seller agree that there is no amount that either party 

should pay to the other on any difference between the preliminary purchase price and the 

final purchase price.  

Other than the adjustment mentioned in this note that affected the initial measurement of 

recognized assets and liabilities, during the rest of the investment measurement period 

provided for by the IFRS, there were no other events or circumstances that modify the gain 

on business acquisition previously recognized as of December 2017.  
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NOTE 14. RELEVANT EVENTS 

Claim for Damages Caused by Maersk 

The Company's operations over financial year 2017 have been affected by the actions of 

A.P. Moller-Maersk Group (“Maersk”) due to the cyberattack and breakdown of their 

computer systems. 

The Company has recently reached an agreement with Maersk. Such agreement establishes 

current and future compensations subject to the fulfillment of certain commercial 

obligations by the parties.  

A portion of the income from this compensation was recognized in this period under Sales 

in the income statement. 

The rest of the compensation agreed will be recorded in the financial statements of the 

Company, over the next periods, to the extent the agreed commercial obligations are 

fulfilled. 

Change of Functional Currency 

During this financial year, the Company has reexamined the definition of its functional 

currency in the countries where it does not operate with the US dollar as functional 

currency, which includes S.A. San Miguel A.G.I.C.I. y F. and its subsidiary San Miguel 

Fruits South Africa PL, taking into account, among other factors, the modification or 

consolidation of its business direction, which is mainly focused on the export market, 

securing financial loans in foreign currency and the opening-up of the US market for the 

sale its fruit. 

At the same time, the Company understands that Argentina is undergoing an economic 

opening process that is maintained and consolidates this trend, leaving the exchange rate 

regime controlled through restrictions that limited the freedom to act on the flows received 

from exports. 

Additionally, the Company started an aggressive expansion plan that included the addition 

of new companies in Peru and the United States, which has allowed it not only to 

incorporate new distribution channels for its products but also diversify the products it 

sells. 

Due to these changes that mainly include: the opening-up of new international markets and 

the authorization in 2018 to enter the US market, the granting at the end of 2018 of the 

financial loan mentioned in note 7 which significantly modified the financial structure of 

the Company and the maintenance of new local regulations, the Board of the Company 

considers that the indicators required to modify its functional currency as from the year 

beginning January 1, 2019 have been reasonably produced and consolidated.  The Board 

points out that this statement is not related to a specific event but to a number of situations 

that took place and are currently consolidated. For this reason, as from the year beginning 
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NOTE 14. RELEVANT EVENTS (Cont.) 

1, 2019 the Company will prospectively change its functional currency for its operation in 

Argentina and South Africa, from Argentine Pesos and South African Rands to US Dollars 

respectively. 

NOTE 15. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 

The following tables show the carrying amounts of the financial assets and financial 

liabilities by category of financial instruments, as required by IFRS 13 and IFRS 7 for the 

years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017. 

 

As of December 31, 2018 

At 

amortized 

cost 

At fair 

value 

through 

profit or 

loss 

At fair value 

through other 

comprehensive 

income 

Total 

Assets according to balance sheet     

Other receivables, net 2,050,428   2,050,428 

Trade receivables 437,903   437,903 

Other financial assets 39,387   39,387 

Cash and cash equivalents 788,163   788,163 

Total 3,315,881   3,315,881 

Liabilities according to balance sheet     

Financial loans 6,682,161   6,682,161 

Advance from customers 430,931   430,931 

Trade payables and other payables 2,793,417   2,793,417 

Total 9,906,509   9,906,509 

 

 

As of December 31, 2017 

At 

amortized 

cost 

At fair 

value 

through 

profit or 

loss 

At fair value 

through other 

comprehensive 

income 

Total 

Assets according to balance sheet     

Other receivables, net 1,194,062   1,194,062 

Trade receivables 634,263   634,263 

Other financial assets 122,405   122,405 

Cash and cash equivalents 326,861   326,861 

Total 2,277,591   2,277,591 

Liabilities according to balance sheet     

Financial loans 4,523,537   4,523,537 

Advance from customers 214,646   214,646 

Trade payables and other payables 1,761,444   1,761,444 

Total 6,499,627   6,499,627 
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NOTE 15. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (Cont.) 

Given the short-term maturities of most accounts receivable and payable, other receivables 

and liabilities and cash and cash equivalents, their carrying amount recorded at year-end do 

not significantly differ from their respective fair values. 

15.1 Fair Value Hierarchies 

Fair value determination  

IFRS 13 defines the fair value of a financial instrument as the price that would be received 

to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market 

participants at the measurement date. All financial instruments recognized at fair value are 

assigned to one of the valuation hierarchy levels of IFRS 7. This value hierarchy has three 

levels. The initial basis for the assignment is the “type of economic investment”. The 

assignment reflects which of the fair values results from market transactions and where the 

valuation is based on models because market transactions are deficient.  

Level 1: valuation is based on unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for financial 

assets identical to the ones the Group can access at balance sheet date. To be considered an 

active market, transactions must occur frequently enough and in sufficient volume to 

provide pricing information on an ongoing basis.  

Level 2: financial instruments are valued using models based on observable market inputs. 

Level 3: it uses valuation techniques not based on observable data in the market, to the 

extent there is no observable market data. Data used reflect the Group's assumptions as 

regards the factors that market participants would consider when pricing the asset or 

liability. 

As of December 31, 2018 and 2017 the company has no assets or liabilities measured at 

fair value, for which reason the breakdown in levels is not required. 
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NOTE 15. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (Cont.) 

15.2 Fair Value Estimation 

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities valued at fair value 

Financial assets and liabilities valued at fair value as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the 

information and techniques used for their valuation and the hierarchy level are explained 

below:  

 A) Cash and cash equivalents 

The carrying amount of these assets approximates fair value. 

B) Other financial assets maturing in less than three months 

The Company considers that the carrying amount of the short-term and highly liquid 

investments that are readily convertible to cash and subject to insignificant risk of changes 

in value, and with original maturities of ninety days or less, such as cash and cash 

equivalents, approximates fair value. Basically, it includes term deposits with first-class 

financial institutions.  

C) Trade receivables and other receivables 

It is considered that the carrying amount approximates fair value, since those receivables 

are substantially short term. An allowance was set up for all receivables that are considered 

doubtful receivables. 

D) Accounts payable and other payables 

It is considered that the carrying amount approximates fair value, since those liabilities are 

substantially short term. 

E)  Biological assets 

In the initial stage of their biological development, that is, until the seeds reach a 

phenological status that allows reasonably estimating their yield, they are valued at 

historical cost. At 2018 year-end, there are no biological assets valued at fair value. 

15.3 Financial Risk Management as of December 2018 

15.3.1 Financial Risk Factors  

San Miguel's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks, including market risk, credit 

risk and liquidity risk. San Miguel's risk management program is based on the 

unpredictability of certain variables of the financial markets and it primarily seeks to 

minimize potential effects that could have any adverse impact on the company's financial
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NOTE 15. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 

15.3 Financial Risk Management as of December 2018 (Cont.) 

15.3.1 Financial Risk Factors (Cont.) 

performance. At consolidated level, the Group uses different derivative financial 

instruments to hedge certain risk exposures.   

Risk management is carried out by the Finance Department of the company under policies 

approved by the Board of Directors. This Department identifies, evaluates and hedges 

financial risks in close co-operation with the Group's operating units. The Board provides 

policies for overall risk management, as well as policies covering specific areas, such as 

foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, liquidity risk, etc.   

a) Market risk   

a.i) Foreign exchange risk 

Foreign currency risk is the risk that fair value or future cash flows of a financial 

instrument will fluctuate due to changes in exchange rates. 

San Miguel is an exporter that has a customer base with whom it operates internationally. 

This implies that, in consideration for the sales of its products, the company receives 

payments in hard currency (mainly in US dollars and Euros), thus exposing the company to 

a risk related to exchange rate variation considering that a large part of the Company's 

expenses are in the different local currencies of the countries where it operates.    

In order to reduce the exposure to such foreign exchange risk arising from commercial 

transactions with its customers, San Miguel, as a first step, funds its operations in the same 

currency as revenue is earned, thus balancing income and expenses.  Additionally, the 

company also uses different hedges of forward exchange rate in the different countries 

where it operates. Foreign exchange risk arises when commercial transactions are 

denominated in a currency that is not the entity's functional currency. 

As of December 31, 2018 a 1 percent devaluation / (revaluation) effect of the Argentine 

peso, holding all other variables constant, would result in a profit / (loss) of $ 59,320. 

a. ii) Interest rate risk  

Interest rate risk is the risk that fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will 

fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates. The Group manages interest rate risk by 

holding i) a balanced mix of financial loans with fixed and variable rate, ii) a balance 

between debt in foreign currency, in local currency and operations with pre-export 

financing.
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NOTE 15. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (Cont.) 

15.3 Financial Risk Management as of December 2018 (Cont.) 

15.3.1 Financial Risk Factors (Cont.) 

a. ii) Interest rate risk (Cont.) 

 

 2018 2017 

Fixed rate loans:   

Peso - 356,304 

Euro 868,804 1,740,970 

Sol - 39,840 

ZAR - 14,788 

Dollar 1,905,926 2,266,931 

Total fixed rate loans 2,774,730 4,418,833 

Variable rate loans:   

Euro 2,762,918 - 

Dollar 1,039,772 - 

ZAR 104,741 104,704 

Total variable rate loans 3,907,431 104,704 

Total loans 6,682,161 4,523,537 

 

As of December 31, 2018, the company had variable rate loans denominated in US 

Dollars, Euros and Rands. As of that date, an increase / (decrease) of 100 basis points in 

LIBOR, holding all other variables constant, would result in a (loss) / profit in thousands of 

ARS (10,365)/10,365.  For EURIBOR, an increase / (decrease) of 100 basis points, holding 

all other variables constant, would result in a (loss) / profit in thousands of ARS 

(27,575)/27,575. Finally, an increase / (decrease) of 100 basis points in South Africa prime 

rate, holding all other variables constant, would result in a (loss) / profit of thousands of 

ARS (1,047)/1,047. 

iii) Raw material price risk: 

Historically, the prices of agricultural produce and its derived products have been cyclical 

and sensitive to changes in supply and demand, both locally and internationally. The prices 

that the company may obtain for agricultural produce depend on many factors beyond its 

control, including: 

- local and international supply and demand conditions; 

- changes in the agricultural subsidy policies of certain production countries or 

regions (especially the United States and Europe) and the adoption by such countries or 

regions of policies affecting prices and market conditions: 

- changes in trade barriers by the major consumers (especially, China, India, USA 

and Europe); 
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NOTE 15. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (Cont.) 

15.3 Financial Risk Management as of December 2018 (Cont.) 

15.3.1 Financial Risk Factors (Cont.) 

iii) Raw material price risk (Cont.) 

- world commodity stock level; 

- climate conditions and natural disasters in agricultural areas; 

- Federal Government intervention through the application of withholdings or other 

measures that may affect the price received by the local producer. 

The variation in the market prices of these products could have material adverse effects on 

its business, financial condition and/or results of operations, its perspectives and/or its 

capacity to fulfill its obligations in general. 

b) Credit risk  

Credit and counterparty risk is the risk of incurring losses as a result of a third party's 

failure to meet its obligations. The financial instruments that potentially subject the Group 

to credit risk consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, advanced 

payments to suppliers and other receivables. The Group seeks to mitigate exposure to 

credit risk by: i) placing its cash and cash equivalents with high-rated financial institutions 

and closely monitoring the credit rating of such institutions, ii) diversifying its customer 

portfolio, iii) a strict credit limit policy. 

The provision for bad debts is determined by analyzing the customer's ability to pay the 

amounts due to the Group. As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the provision for bad debts 

represents approximately 2.4 percent and 1.6 percent of total trade receivables. 

c) Liquidity risk   

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group may not be able to meet its obligations as they fall 

due. Liquidity risk is periodically monitored by the Risk Monitoring Committee 

maintaining sufficient cash and credit facilities to meet the business and financial 

obligations of the Group to suppliers and financial institutions. The Group holds sufficient 

realizable assets to settle its current financial liabilities. 

To meet the financing needs for working capital, the company has relationships with more 

than 30 banks and financial institutions distributed in the 3 countries of operation; such 

needs are mainly met with pre-export finance facilities. Additionally, investment plans are 

financed through long-term loans, which may be granted by first-class financial 
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NOTE 15. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (Cont.) 

15.3 Financial Risk Management as of December 2018 (Cont.) 

15.3.1 Financial Risk Factors (Cont.) 

c) Liquidity risk (Cont.) 

institutions, corporate notes or loans with multilateral agencies. This debt profile in some 

cases provides for the granting of security interests on Company's property. See Note 7 on 

loans with international financial institutions.  

The Group has assessed its liquidity risk as low, since its access to sources of finance is 

reasonably secured and its short-term debt could be paid or refinanced with no further 

difficulties. 

15.3.2 Capital Management  

The objectives of the Company when managing capital are: (i) ensure that it maintains a 

strong credit rating; (ii) ensure a healthy capitalization, in order to safeguard the ability to 

continue as a going concern, producing returns to shareholders; (iii) maintain an optimal 

financing structure to minimize the cost of capital and (iv) comply with the covenants 

required in some loan agreements. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the 

Company may, among other things, adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, 

return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt. 

The Group measures financial debt against adjusted EBITDA as one of the main indicators 

of capital management. This ratio allows measuring the financial performance of the 

Group: 

Debt ratios as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 arise from the table below: 

  12.31.2018 12.31.2017 

Loans (Financial and Bank Lease) 6,682,161  4,523,537 

(Less) cash and cash equivalents  827,550 449,266 

Net debt  5,854,611 4,074,271 

Total Shareholders' Equity 10,620,556 5,501,857 

DEBT RATIO 55% 74% 
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NOTE 15. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (Cont.) 

15.3 Financial Risk Management as of December 2018 (Cont.) 

15.3.2 Capital Management (Cont.) 

Management strictly monitors this ratio on an ongoing basis. Future projections of said 

ratio are made by the Group as a key factor in its capital allocation strategy.
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Property, Plant and Equipment - Consolidated 

Schedule A 

 

Item 

 Acquisition costs Depreciations Net residual value as of 

Residual value 

at beginning 

of year 

Increases 

of the year 

Addition due to 

business acquisition 
Transfers 

 

Decreases 

Foreign currency 

translation gains 

(losses) 

Technical 

revaluation 

At year 

end 
Decreases 

 

Of the year 

Of foreign 

currency 

translation gains 

(losses) 

Accumulated at 

year end 
12.31.18 12.31.17 

Thousands of $ 

Rural lands           2,381,508  13,520 - 2,778  (162,644) 355,915 1.250,629 3,841,686 (2,300) 1,809 681 190 3,841,496           2,381,508 
Plantations 3,991,295 566,801 - 17,970 (332,789) 694,829 2,871,164 7,809,270 (61,348) 192,870 76,059 207,581 7,601689 3,991,295 

Buildings              500,616  6,890  -   14,108 (1,571) 29,557 728,335 1,277,935 (388) 47,178 13,858 60,648 1,217,287 500,616 

Facilities            724,898  31,478  - 27,768 (17,596) 157,239 245,294 1,169,081 (11,366) 74,393 26,874 89,901 1,079,180 724,898 

Furniture, fixtures and computer equipment            83,444 11,192 - 12,381 (286) (24,712)  82,019 (146) 35,300 11,847 47,001 35,018 83,444 

Bins            19,770  3,534  - - (6,605) 1,962 73,721 92,382 (5,380) 6,784 990 2,394 89,988 19,770 

Agricultural machinery and tools            43,412 - - - (7,583) - 3,930 39,759 (1,844) 6,602  - 4,758 35,001 43,412 

Vehicles            471,451  151,120 - 28,308 (43,450) 232,224 1,164,994 2,004,647 (26,621) 81,384 105,008 159,771 1,844,876 471,451 

Machinery and equipment            20,654  10,180 - - (6,269) 15,603 14,704 54,872 (5,948) 10,382 13,282 17,716 37,156 20,654 

Work in progress           339,673  351,964  - (98,250) (10,043) 83,942 - 667,286 - - - - 667,286 339,673 

Prepayment to suppliers          7,358  39,234  - (5,063) - 2,721 - 44,250 - - - - 44,250 7,358 

Overall Total as of 12.31.18 8,584,079 1,185,913 - - (588,856) 1,549,280 6,352,771 17,083,187 (115,341) 456,702 248,599 589,960 16,493,227 - 

Overall Total as of 12.31.17 6,952,384 401,308 1,540,763 - (119,646) 282,724 - 9,057,533 (47,407) 470,296 50,565  473,454  8,584,079 
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Other Financial Assets 

                                                                                                                                                                                       

Schedule D 

 

 

Main account 

and characteristics 

Cost 

value 

USD 

Carrying value 

$ 

Book value at 

12.31.18 12.31.17 

Thousands of $ 

Current investments         

-Term deposit  642 39,387 39,387      122,405 

 Total 642 39,387 39,387      122,405  

 

USD = US dollars 

 

  

 



S.A. SAN MIGUEL A.G.I.C.I. Y F. 

Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 

(In thousands of Argentine pesos) 

 

See our report dated 

  March 7, 2019 
PRICE WATERHOUSE & CO. S.R.L. 

 

 
(Partner) 

    

 
S.A. SAN MIGUEL A.G.I.C.I. Y F. 

Carlos Brondo 

Certified Accountant (UNCuyo)  

Prof. Lic. No. 7336.1 
Association of Economics 

Graduates of Tucumán (CGCET) 

 See our report dated 

March 7, 2019 

Gerardo Eduardo Francia 
By Statutory Audit Committee 

 
Gonzalo Tanoira 

Chairman 

 

 

 
67 

 

Provisions - Consolidated 

    Schedule E 

 

 

 

   

Items 

Opening 

balances 

of period 

Increases 

of period 

Applications 

and reversals 

of period 

Exchange 

difference 
Balances at  

period-end 

Thousands of$ 

Deducted from Assets:              

Sundry receivables               -  15,728  -         - 15,728 

Prepayment to suppliers 16,435            -  - (5,305) 11,130 

Doubtful receivables 10,634  250  - - 10,884 

Total as of 12.31.18 27,069  15,978  - (5,305) 37,742 

Total as of 12.31.17 11,144  15,731  - 194 27,069 

Included in Liabilities:        

Provisions 38,158  13,321  (5,239)           - 46,240 

Total as of 12.31.18 38,158  13,321  (5,239)           - 46,240 

Total as of 12.31.17 12,363  32,316  (6,521)          - 38,158 
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                                                                                                                                                                                           Schedule F 

Breakdown 

Current 

biological 

assets 

Fresh Fruit  
Industrial 

and other products 
Services 

Total as of 

12.31.18 12.31.17 

Thousands of $ 

 Stock at beginning of period (Note 4.d.) 1,190,127 2,504 515,687 - 1,708,318           1,608,539  

 Addition due to purchase of related company - - - - - 123,469 

 Translation exchange difference 164,622 59,777 203,020 - 427,419 78,227 

 Leases 65,248 - - - 65,248 56,486 

 Transfer of inventories (2,859,065) 2,357,748 501,317 - - - 

 Purchases and costs for the period:         

  Retirement due to fire  - - - - - (1,195) 

 Purchases of raw materials - 189,307    231,623    - 420,930 566,676 

  Purchases of finished products - 1,024,246 111,008 - 1,135,254 1,273,035 

  Cost of harvest (Schedule H) - 519,098 508,067 - 1,027,165 857,602 

  Cost of citrus agricultural production (Schedule H) 1,769,384 -    -    - 1,769,384 1,143,689 

  Cost of factory production (Schedule H) - -    1,012,006 - 1,012,006 768,474 

  Cost of packing production (Schedule H) - 1,071,481 - - 1,071,481 729,661 

 Changes in value of biological assets 1,246,475 -    - - 1.246,475 521,376 

 Cost of services rendered (Schedule H) - -    - 21,278 21,728 4,166 

 Stock at period end (Note 4.d.) (1,576,791) (232,023) (529,103) - (2,337,917) (1,708,318) 

 Total as of 12.31.18 - 4,992,138 2,553,625 21,728 7,567,491  

 Total as of 12.31.17  3,761,437 2,256,284 4,166  6,021,887 



S.A. SAN MIGUEL A.G.I.C.I. Y F. 

Consolidated Assets and Liabilities as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 

(In thousands of Argentine pesos) 

See our report dated 

March 7, 2019 
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Assets and Liabilities in Foreign Currency - Consolidated                                                                                                                                                                                 

Schedule G 

 

Breakdown  

Foreign currency  Current 

exchange 

$/F.C. 

As of 12.31.18 As of 12.31.17 

Class Amount Thousands of $ 

ASSETS           

CURRENT ASSETS           

Cash and banks  USD                16,732        37.50              627,456            103,293  

Cash and banks €                411       42.83 17,602             23,334  

Cash and banks £                     12  48.00                   576  854 

Cash and banks Zar 18,471 2.62 48,307 - 

Other financial assets USD                442        37.49               16,569            78,996  

Other financial assets €                   175  42.85                 7,499             3,900  

Trade receivables USD 2,520       37.50  94,508  271,393  

Trade receivables €                3,096  42.84  132,630  71,012  

Trade receivables £                     6        49.33                 296  1,432 

Trade receivables Zar 20,563 2.62 53,780 - 

Other receivables USD              25,675        37.50              962,795            345,140  

Other receivables €                335  42.80               14,338                  47,431  

Other receivables £ - 49.33 - 341 

Other receivables Zar 2,244 2.62 5,869 - 

Total Current Assets     1,982,225 947,126 

NON-CURRENT ASSETS        

Other receivables Zar 67,560    2.62 176,689 - 

Other receivables USD 92 37.50 3,450 - 

Total Non-current Assets    180,139 - 

Total Assets     2,162,364 947,126 

LIABILITIES        

CURRENT LIABILITIES        

Accounts payable USD 38,440 37.70 1,449,206 538,941 

Accounts payable € 4,630 43.17 199,864 195,220 

Accounts payable Zar 83,704 2.61 218,354 - 

Advances from customers USD 8,541 37.70 322,002 427 

Advances from customers € 1,276 43.16 55,066 5,470 

Loans USD 22,920 37.70 864,084 1,141,921 

Loans € 20,284 43.16 875,525 420,475 

Loans Zar 7,069 2.61 18,442 17,471 

Other liabilities USD 401 37.75 15,136 35,336 

Other liabilities € 53 43.40 2,300 21,169 

Other liabilities Zar 5,965 2.61 15,561 - 

Total Current Liabilities    4,035,540 2,376,430 

NON-CURRENT 

LIABILITIES       

Loans USD 60,000 37.70 2,262,014 393,316 

Loans € 63,888 43.16 2,757,575 758,565 

Loans Zar 33,184 2.61 86,565 63,453 

Total Non-current Liabilities    5,106,154 1,215,334 

Total Liabilities    9,141,694 3,591,764 

USD = US dollars 

€ = Euros 

£ = Pound Sterling 



S.A. San Miguel A.G.I.C.I. y F. 

Information required by Art. 64 b) of Law No. 19550 - Consolidated 
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    Schedule H 

 

Breakdown 

  

Agricultural cost  

Cost of 

harvest 

Cost of 

factory 

Cost of 

Packing 

Distribution and 

selling 

expenses 

Administrative 

expenses 

Overall total 

Biological 

assets 

Property, plant 

and 

equipment 

Total 

Cost of 

service 12.31.18 12.31.17 

Thousands of $ 

Professional fees 3,949 611 4,560 38 1,755 2,139 3,022 19,342 90,190 121,046 94,098 

Compensations for services 214,687 52,173 266,860 767 629,673 28,462 307,311 77,567 141,150 1,451,790 940,245 
Salaries 462,602 160,078 622,680 12,683 205,807 171,153 145,421 178,777 358,400 1,694,921 1,137,499 

Payroll taxes 78,358 6,917 85,275 - 18,143 57,896 23,750 38,973 65,601 289,638 270,483 

Spare parts and materials 34,363 9,808 44,171 - 1,774 70,403 10,068 823 5,232 132,471 158,431 
Repairs 78,187 13,727 91,914 632 4,861 360 22,211 77 1,281 121,336 12,250 

Insurance 9,629 622 10,251 85 1,165 5,783 3,337 12,329 2,274 35,224 16,539 
Chemicals 362,892 105,594 468,486 3,703 1,854 95,488 16,947 159 - 586,637 408,336 

Power supply and telephone 45,512 10,353 55,865 642 98 89,491 16,919 8,251 10,324 181,590 126,021 

Natural gas - - - - - 151,550 3,596 - - 155,146 81,439 
Taxes 23,517 2,319 25,836 - 5,921 8,193 2,713 25,817 6,799 75,279 32,489 

Packages 555 1,200 1,755 10 3,838 129,929 378,226 1,042 30 514,830 370,178 

Freight and cartage 8,535 1,655 10,190 44 100,535 31,717 24,826 167,922 537 335,771 325,579 
Other expenses 29,700 31,471 61,171 385 5,349 7,180 13,754 73,989 54,624 216,452 110,925 

Traveling expenses 44,529 518 45,047 274 2,503 1,493 4,002 30,978 21,443 105,740 47,055 

Storage and conservation 2 - 2 - 20 21,530 2,982 85,899 - 110,433 106,599 
Commissions - - - - 178 - - 7,510 - 7,688 6,213 

Port expenses 16 3 19 - - 1,561 21,328 224,042 282 247,232 153,189 

Property, plant and equip. 
depreciation 

285,383 4,778 290,161 2,351 8,933 51,690 32,767 5,012 67,134 458,048 383,205 

Fuels and lubricants 44,065 19,023 63,088 18 4,492 3,359 10,119 3,469 2,085 86,630 63,798 

Rentals 42,903 17,608 60,511 96 30,266 82,629 28,182 4,244 30,335 236,263 165,696 

Total as of 12.31.18 1,769,384 438,458 2,207,842 21,728 1,027,165 1,012,006 1,071,481 966,222 857,721 7,164,165  

Total as of 12.31.17 1,143,689 153,061 1,296,750 4,166 857,602 768,474 729,661 711,901 641,712  5,010,266 



 

 

 


